ABSTRACT

Title of Dissertation:THE ENDOGENOUS REGULATION OF THE HUMAN
MACROPHAGE ACTIVATION RESPONSEKajal Hamidzadeh, 2020Dr. David M. Mosser, Professor

Department of Cell Biology & Molecular Genetics

Macrophages are innate immune cells that participate in host defense to invading pathogens. They are powerful producers of cytokines and inflammatory mediators due to their efficient recognition of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) via toll like receptors (TLRs). We and others have shown that the activation response to PAMPs is transient. In the present work, we demonstrate that stimulated macrophages produce adenosine and prostaglandin E2, which function as regulators of the macrophage activation response. Macrophages also upregulate receptors for these regulators to terminate inflammation and promote wound healing. We performed high throughput RNA sequencing to characterize the transcriptomes of human monocyte-derived macrophages in response to stimulation with LPS + Adenosine or LPS + PGE₂. These cells exhibited a decrease in inflammatory transcripts and an increase in transcripts associated with cell growth and repair when compared to cells stimulated in the absence of these regulators.

Macrophages can be generated from precursor cells in response to two different growth factors; M-CSF (macrophage colony stimulating factor) and GM-CSF (granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor). M-CSF is expressed constitutively in a variety of tissues, while GM-CSF is expressed primarily in the lung, but can be induced in other tissues under inflammatory conditions. We demonstrate that human macrophages differentiated in M-CSF readily adopt an anti-inflammatory, growth promoting phenotype in response to LPS + Adenosine or LPS + PGE₂, while macrophages differentiated in GM-CSF do not. This observation suggests that M-CSF derived human macrophages may be better able to alter their activation state in response to surrounding signals in order to maintain homeostasis. GM-CSF derived macrophages, in contrast, may undergo a more prominent activation response that is associated with inflammation and tissue destruction due to their inability to efficiently respond to resolving molecules.

THE ENDOGENOUS REGULATION OF THE HUMAN MACROPHAGE

ACTIVATION RESPONSE

by

Kajal Hamidzadeh

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2020

Advisory Committee: Professor David M. Mosser, Chair Professor Kevin McIver Professor Wenxia Song Professor Volker Briken Professor Xiaoping Zhu © Copyright by

Kajal Hamidzadeh

2020

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my parents,

Babak and Stacey Hamidzadeh.

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Mosser. His encouragement and excitement for my project truly helped me through the graduate school process. He taught me invaluable lessons about how to approach scientific problems, how to ask questions, and how to communicate ideas, which I will carry with me for the rest of my career.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. McIver, Dr. Song, Dr. Briken, and Dr. Zhu for their insightful advice and time dedicated to the development of my project. I would like to thank my collaborators Dr. El-Sayed and Dr. Belew for sharing their scientific expertise with me and for their kindness. It was a privilege to work with them.

I would like to thank former members of the Mosser Lab: Dr. Christensen, Dr. Chandrasekaran, and Dr. Costa da Silva. I couldn't have picked a better fellow graduate student to sit next to for 6 years than Steve. Prabha not only taught me lab techniques, but also life lessons. Carol motivated and cheered me on since day one. Mostly, I am thankful to all three for their friendship.

Lastly, I would like to thank my parents for their unconditional love and support throughout my graduate school journey and for all the opportunities they have given me in my lifetime. I would also like to thank my sister for her support and enthusiastic spirit.

Dedication	. ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
List of Illustrations	ix
List of Abbreviations	X
Chapter 1: Introduction 1.1 Macrophages and innate immunity 1.2 Macrophage polarization M1 macrophages M2 macrophages Regulatory macrophages 1.3 Toll like receptors TLR signaling	1 2 3 3 4 5 5
Lipopolysaccharide and TLR4 1.4 Adenosine in the immune system ATP release and hydrolysis Adenosine receptor signaling Adenosine in disease	. 6 . 6 . 8 . 8 . 9
 1.5 Prostaglandin E2 in the immune system PGE₂ synthesis and secretion PGE₂ receptor signaling PGE₂ and the immune response	10 10 11 11 12
Type II interferon Type II interferon 1.7 Colony stimulating factors M-CSF	12 13 14 14 15
 1.8 Macrophage activation during disease or injury Sepsis	16 16 17 18 19 20
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods 2.1 Mouse BMDM preparation 2.2 Mouse BMDM stimulation 2.3 Human macrophage differentiation	21 21 21 21

Table of Contents

2.4 Human macrophage stimulation	22
2.5 RNA-sequencing sample and library preparation	22
2.6 RNA-sequencing data assessment, visualization and differential express	sion
analysis	23
2.7 Single cell RNA-sequencing sample and library preparation	23
2.8 Single Cell RNA-sequencing analysis	24
2 9 FLISA	24
2.) Definitive real-time PCR	25
2.10 Quantum vertear time rear time reaction	23
2.11 Measurement of ATP degradation	20
2.12 Weasurement of ATT degradation	20 28
2.15 HUVEC tube formation assay	20
2.14 Flow cytometry	29
Chapter 2. The effects of interference on numinersis signaling in mause macrophase	a 20
2.1 Introduction	s 50 20
3.1 Introduction	50
3.2 Results	31
Type II interferon modulation of macrophage activation	31
Type I interferon modulation of macrophage activation	35
3.3 Discussion	40
	1
chapter 4: Characterization of the transcriptome of human M-CSF derived macrop	nages
stimulated with LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE_2	42
4.1 Introduction	42
4.2 Results	42
RNA-sequencing analysis	42
Pathway analysis	47
Single cell RNA-sequencing analysis	52
4.3 Discussion	56
Chapter 5: Comparison of human GM-CSF derived macrophages to M-CSF derive	d
macrophages both stimulated with LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE ₂	60
5.1 Introduction	60
5.2 Results	60
Adenosine and PGE ₂ sensing in human macrophages	62
Transcriptome comparison of M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages	65
Functional assays of human macrophages	73
Kinetics and modulation of cytokine production	79
5.3 Discussion	86
Chapter 6: Conclusions and future directions	93
	-
References	97

List of Tables

 Table I. Primer Sequences

Table II. Single cell RNA-sequencing markers for LPS + PGE₂ versus LPS

 Table III. Single cell RNA-sequencing markers for LPS + Ado versus LPS

List of Figures

Figure 1. Adenosine receptor gene expression following IFN γ priming and stimulation with various TLR ligands

Figure 2. Adenosine receptor expression in STAT1 knockout BMDMs

Figure 3. Cytokine levels in WT and STAT1 knockout BMDMs

Figure 4. Cytokine levels in WT and A2B receptor knockout BMDMs

Figure 5. Adenosine receptor expression following priming with Type I, II and III IFNs

Figure 6. Adenosine receptor expression in IFNAR knockout BMDMs

Figure 7. Cytokine levels in WT and A2A receptor knockout BMDMs

Figure 8. Most highly upregulated and downregulated genes by adenosine and PGE₂ relative to LPS stimulated macrophages alone.

Figure 9. Degree of transcriptional similarity between LPS + Adenosine and LPS+PGE₂ stimulated macrophages

Figure 10. Cluster visualization of M-CSF macrophage single cell transcriptomes

Figure 11. Functional characteristics of shared DEGs between LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS stimulation

Figure 12. Functional interaction groups in shared DEGs between LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS stimulation

Figure 13. Violin plots of candidate RNA markers for LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated M-CSF macrophages

Figure 14. Feature plots of candidate RNA markers for LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated M-CSF macrophages

Figure 15. M1 genes in M-CSF macrophages

Figure 16. Flow cytometry validation of M-CSF and GM-CSF derived macrophages

Figure 17. ATP degradation and PGE₂ production by human macrophages

Figure 18. mRNA expression of purinergic pathway and PGE₂ receptor genes in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages

Figure 19. mRNA expression of PGE₂ synthesis pathway genes

Figure 20. Purinergic and PGE_2 pathway gene expression following stimulation with various TLR ligands

Figure 21. PCA plot of stimulated human macrophage samples

Figure 22. Volcano plot visualization of DEGs from LPS + Ado and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated macrophages relative to LPS alone

Figure 23. Comparison of expression of DEGs by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS alone in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages

Figure 24. mRNA expression of genes of interest in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages

Figure 25. HUVEC cell tube formation in the presence of macrophage conditioned media

Figure 26. Flow cytometry of CD300E surface expression

Figure 27. Flow cytometry of PLAUR surface expression

Figure 28. Growth promoting, anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion by M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages

Figure 29. Inflammatory cytokine secretion by M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages

Figure 30. Modulation of macrophage IL-12p40 secretion by increasing concentrations of adenosine and PGE_2

Figure 31. Priming in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages

Figure 32. Kinetics of inflammatory TNF and IL-12p40 cytokine secretion by M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages

Figure 33. Pharmacological inhibition of adenosine and PGE₂ receptors

Figure 34. Proposed model of M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophage activation

List of Illustrations

Illustration 1. ATP catabolism at the macrophage surface

List of Abbreviations

Ado	adenosine
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BMDM	bone marrow derived macrophage
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CD	cluster of differentiation
COX	cyclooxygenase
DEG	differentially expressed gene
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
Epac	exchange protein activated by cAMP
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor
GO	gene ontology
GPCR	g-protein coupled receptor
GPCR HUVEC	g-protein coupled receptor human umbilical vein endothelial cell
GPCR HUVEC IFN	g-protein coupled receptor human umbilical vein endothelial cell interferon
GPCR HUVEC IFN IFNAR	g-protein coupled receptor human umbilical vein endothelial cell interferon interferon alpha receptor
GPCR HUVEC IFN IFNAR IRF	g-protein coupled receptor human umbilical vein endothelial cell interferon interferon alpha receptor interferon regulatory factor
GPCR HUVEC IFN IFNAR IRF IL-6	g-protein coupled receptor human umbilical vein endothelial cell interferon interferon alpha receptor interferon regulatory factor interleukin-6
GPCR HUVEC IFN IFNAR IRF IL-6 IL-10	g-protein coupled receptor human umbilical vein endothelial cell interferon interferon alpha receptor interferon regulatory factor interleukin-6 interleukin-10
GPCR HUVEC IFN IFNAR IRF IL-6 IL-10 IL-12p40	g-protein coupled receptor human umbilical vein endothelial cell interferon interferon alpha receptor interferon regulatory factor interleukin-6 interleukin-10 interleukin-12p40
GPCR HUVEC IFN IFNAR IFNAR IL-6 IL-10 IL-12p40 JAK	g-protein coupled receptor human umbilical vein endothelial cell interferon interferon alpha receptor interferon regulatory factor interleukin-6 interleukin-10 interleukin-12p40 Janus kinase
GPCR HUVEC IFN IFNAR IRF IL-6 IL-10 IL-12p40 JAK KO	g-protein coupled receptor human umbilical vein endothelial cell interferon interferon alpha receptor interferon regulatory factor interleukin-6 interleukin-10 interleukin-12p40 Janus kinase knockout

LPS	lipopolysaccharide
M-CSF	macrophage colony stimulating factor
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NK	natural killer
PAMP	pathogen associated molecular pattern
PAP	pulmonary alveolar proteinosis
PGE ₂	prostaglandin E2
РКА	protein kinase A
PCA	principal component analysis
PLAUR	plasminogen activator, urokinase receptor
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
RNA-seq	RNA sequencing
SLE	systemic lupus erythematosus
STAT	signal transducing
THBS1	thrombospondin-1
TGFβ	transforming growth factor beta
TLR	toll like receptor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
ТҮК	tyrosine kinase
UMAP	uniform manifold approximation and projection
UMAP VEGFa	uniform manifold approximation and projection vascular endothelial growth factor alpha

<u>1 Introduction</u>

Parts of this chapter are adapted from published works:

- Hamidzadeh, K., S.M. Christensen, E. Dalby, P. Chandrasekaran, and D.M. Mosser. 2017. Macrophages and the Recovery from Acute and Chronic Inflammation. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 79:567–592. doi:10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034348.
- Hamidzadeh, K., and D.M. Mosser. 2016. Purinergic Signaling to Terminate TLR Responses in Macrophages. *Front. Immunol.* 7:74. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00074.

1.1 Macrophages and Innate Immunity

Macrophages reside in almost all tissues of the body and engage in inflammatory processes in order to protect the host from invading pathogens and to fight infection. They are part of the innate immune system, which is the host's first line of defense once an immunogen has bypassed external barriers such as the skin. Macrophages are efficient phagocytes and are able to rapidly clear debris, dead cells, and microbes at the site of infection. In addition to phagocytosis, macrophages release important inflammatory mediators including cytokines in order to initiate systemic immune responses. These inflammatory macrophages are a vital component of host defense. However, the transition to an anti-inflammatory state is crucial during the resolution of infection in order to prevent damage to host tissue. The failure to resolve inflammation can result in autoimmunity.

Macrophages originate from two different sources: the embryonic yolk sac, and hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow¹. During inflammation, tissue macrophages can be derived from circulating blood monocytes. These cells migrate to the tissue, or

sites of inflammation, where they encounter signals such as macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) that promote their differentiation into macrophages. It has been demonstrated that during chronic infection, macrophages from embryonic origin largely disappear, and are replaced with macrophages of hematopoietic origin in the lung, liver, and peritoneum among other tissues^{2,3}. Macrophages residing in close proximity to a variety of signals exhibit dramatically different phenotypes.

1.2 Macrophage polarization

Macrophages represent a heterogeneous population of immune cells. Because they are present in so many tissues, they are exposed to a wide variety of microenvironments and must be able to respond to a wide range of stimuli. Macrophages express the family of surface receptors known as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), which are able to recognize pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). These are conserved patterns present on pathogens that the cells have evolved to recognize efficiently to mount an inflammatory immune response. In addition to PAMP signals, macrophages also recognize small molecules in their surroundings that allow them to alter their phenotype. This is termed macrophage "plasticity" and it is important that macrophage phenotypes can be reversed. Due to the plasticity of these cells, macrophages with an infinite number of diverse phenotypes may exist⁴. However, it is generally accepted that 3 main populations of macrophages may represent the polar extremes of macrophage phenotypes. These include classically activated (M1), alternatively activated (M2), and "regulatory" macrophages. While these 3 groups have been initially defined in the mouse⁵, it is proposed that macrophage activation falls along a spectrum as they exist within diverse environments within the human host.

M1 Macrophages

M1 macrophages are defined by stimulation with interferon gamma (IFN γ) + lipopolysaccharide (LPS). Early on in infection the type II interferon, IFN γ , is produced by innate and adaptive immune cells. Macrophages exposed to IFN γ are primed for secretion of large amounts of inflammatory cytokines, and reactive oxygen and nitrogen species⁶. This secretion is typically triggered by a second stimulus. Classically activated macrophages receive a secondary signal through TNF receptor or TLR stimulation. Stimulation of TLRs results in the activation of NF κ B transcription factors, which induce the transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12 and TNF, and many cytokines and mediators through interferon response elements. Our lab has contributed to the body of knowledge surrounding classically activated mouse macrophages by demonstrating that IFN γ primed bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) do not downregulate their own activation state⁷. This occurs due to the failure to upregulate the A2br receptor, which renders these macrophages insensitive to the endogenous antiinflammatory effects of adenosine.

M2 Macrophages

M2 macrophages are typically induced in response to IL-4 or IL-13. These macrophages produce precursors important for collagen production. These same precursors may lead to tissue fibrosis and Th2 pathology. While IL-4 alone does not induce cytokine production in these macrophages, it does promote the induction of arginase (Arg1)⁶. IL-4 receptor stimulation also results in the activation of STAT6⁸.

Alternatively activated macrophages are considered to be more susceptible to microbial infection and intracellular pathogens and this is thought to be through the metabolism of L-arginine to polyamines⁹. In this way, arginase induction diverts arginine away from NO production and provides microorganisms with necessary nutrients for survival. Surprisingly, M2 or alternatively activated macrophages have not sufficiently been characterized in humans. Preliminary, unpublished, transcriptomic data from our lab indicates that IL-4 treatment of monocyte-derived macrophages has a more limited effect on their phenotype, with little overlap with the effects of IL-4 treatment of mouse macrophages.

Regulatory Macrophages

Regulatory macrophages (R-M ϕ) were first defined in our laboratory in mouse bone marrow derived macrophages^{10,11}. They require a combination of an inflammatory signal, such as TLR stimulation and a secondary signal, which can include immune complexes, adenosine or prostaglandin E₂^{5,12}. The hallmark of regulatory macrophages is the reciprocal change of IL-10 and IL-12 cytokine production. In mouse, R-M ϕ produce high levels of IL-10 compared to LPS stimulation alone. IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine, which can act to suppress macrophage activation and it is critical for the resolution of inflammation. R-M ϕ stimulated with adenosine and PGE₂ produce decreased amounts of IL-12 despite the inflammatory TLR signal. IL-12 is involved in the initiation of cell-mediated immune responses. Our lab has identified a number of other highly upregulated genes in regulatory macrophages, including growth and angiogenic factors, and we were able to demonstrate that these macrophages are distinct from classically and alternatively activated macrophages. From RNA sequencing data, it is hypothesized that regulatory macrophages are not only involved in decreasing inflammation but also involved in promoting homeostasis.

1.3 Toll like receptors:

The innate immune system is our first line of defense against foreign antigens. It is critical that the innate immune response acts quickly and efficiently in order to destroy invading pathogens. Through the evolutionary process, mammalian innate immune cells became equipped with a number of cell surface and intracellular receptors, known as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), that are able to recognize highly conserved and repetitive sequences known as pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs)¹³. In this way, TLRs can rapidly trigger an immune response to different pathogens.

TLR signaling

TLRs are type I transmembrane glycoproteins. The extracellular portion of TLRs is composed of between 16 and 28 leucine rich repeats that contain conserved amino acid motifs¹⁴. TLR signaling originates with dimerization of the receptor and subsequent recruitment of adaptor proteins to its intracellular TIR domain¹⁵. There are five adaptors that can initiate TLR signaling: MyD88, MAL, TRIF, TRAM, and SARM¹⁶. The adaptor MyD88 is critical for the production of inflammatory cytokines by all TLRs. MyD88 recruits IRAK-4 to the receptors, which then activates IRAK-1 and IRAK2¹⁷. Activated IRAKs associate with TRAF6, and this complex can then activate two pathways¹⁸. The first is the MAPK pathway leading to AP-1 transcription factor activation. The second is the phosphorylation of IκB kinase, which dissociates from the IKK complex in order to activate the NF-κB transcription factor. These transcription factors lead to the production of many inflammatory genes.

Lipopolysaccharide and TLR4

One of the most widely used tools to activate macrophages is lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a TLR ligand. LPS is a glycolipid present in the outer membrane of gramnegative bacteria including *E. coli*. The structure of LPS consists of a hydrophobic lipid A component, hydrophilic core of polysaccharides, and O-antigen¹⁹. Trace amounts of LPS in certain tissues, such as blood, can lead to a fatal disease called sepsis due to uncontrollable amounts of inflammation and this toxicity is primarily due to the lipid A component²⁰. LPS is recognized by TLR4, which forms a heterodimer with myeloid differentiation factor 2 (MD-2) that aids in LPS binding^{21,22}. Two additional proteins are also required for LPS recognition, LPS binding protein (LBP) and CD14²³. LBP facilitates the association of LPS with CD14²³. CD14 is expressed on myeloid cells and binds to LPS, subsequently presenting it to the TLR4/MD-2 complex²⁴. CD14 is also required for endocytosis of TLR4, which is part of the signal transduction process²⁵. TLR4 and its interaction with LPS is one of the most studied and well-characterized processes in innate immunity.

1.4 Adenosine in the Immune System:

Adenosine is a purine nucleoside circulating at low levels in the blood and in tissue. Adenosine concentrations surrounding cells can increase via nucleoside transport proteins in the cell membrane, or via ATP catabolism (Illustration 1). ATP and adenosine can be released in local environments by platelets, dead and dying cells, tumors, and from endothelial cells, among other sources. It is proposed that all immune cells can contribute to adenosine concentrations due to the fact that ATP is produced by



Illustration 1. ATP catabolism at the macrophage surface. ATP is converted to adenosine via the action of two ecto-enzymes, CD39 and CD73. Adenosine signals through the A2a and A2b receptors which are coupled to G α s proteins. This leads to an increase in intracellular cAMP levels.

Figure from:

Hamidzadeh, K., and D.M. Mosser. 2016. Purinergic Signaling to Terminate TLR Responses in Macrophages. Front. Immunol. 7:74. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00074.

glycolysis and immune cells express the ecto-enzymes required to convert this ATP to adenosine.

ATP Release and Hydrolysis

ATP release from resting macrophages is low, but ATP release is significantly increased following TLR activation²⁶. Some of the cytosolic ATP generated following TLR stimulation is released into the extracellular milieu through pannexin-1 channels. This ATP is catabolized by macrophages in a coordinated two-step process. ATP is first hydrolyzed to AMP by the surface ecto-enzyme CD39 (E-NTPDase1) in a Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ dependent process²⁷. Next, AMP is rapidly converted to adenosine by CD73 (Ecto5'NTase)²⁸. These two enzymes and their expression level on the macrophage surface can greatly affect the concentration of adenosine in the extracellular environment directly adjacent to the cell.

Adenosine Receptor Signaling

Macrophages respond to adenosine via signaling through the P1 class of seven transmembrane G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR), which includes: A1R, A2aR, A2bR, and A3R²⁹. The A1 and A3 receptors are coupled to the G_i family of proteins, which act to decrease cAMP levels. A2a receptors are $G\alpha_s$ -coupled receptors which act to increase intracellular cAMP, and they are high affinity for adenosine^{30,31}. Similarly, A2b receptors can signal through $G\alpha_s$ or G_q proteins, also leading to increased cAMP, but these receptors are low affinity for adenosine^{30,32}. In combination with TLR stimulation, adenosine drives the transition from a pro-inflammatory to a regulatory macrophage⁴. Adenosine is immuno-suppressive in mouse macrophages as it leads to increased IL-10 release and decreased TNF and IL-12 release²⁶. High-throughput RNA-sequencing data

from our lab indicated that macrophages stimulated with LPS in combination with adenosine upregulated 501 transcripts and downregulated 610 transcripts relative to LPS exposure alone⁵. Furthermore a number of the upregulated transcripts were involved in cell growth, while many of the downregulated transcripts were involved in inflammation³³.

While signaling through GPCRs controls the levels of intracellular cAMP, the role of the cAMP/PKA pathway in terms of inflammatory cytokine inhibition by adenosine receptor signaling is not fully understood. Some researchers have proposed that the inhibition of macrophage TNF production by adenosine is due to a cAMP/PKA-independent pathway, and is rather a pathway dependent on phosphatases³⁴. However, others have shown that cAMP/PKA levels are linked to TNF production in an inverse manner³⁵. It has also been shown that the A2bR interacts with and inhibits NF κ B, and that A2bR knockout macrophages produce less IL-10 and more IL-12 and TNF³⁶. Thus, adenosine may regulate macrophage phenotypes by mechanisms that have not yet been fully elucidated.

Adenosine in disease

Adenosine receptors have been associated with a variety of diseases. These receptors are expressed in many tissues including the brain, heart, spleen, muscle and lung^{37,38}. This ubiquitous pattern of expression is one of the obstacles of developing therapeutics that are able to specifically target the receptors. Studies have been done that reveal a role for A2aR and A2bR in diabetes due to the fact that they are involved in the regulation of glucose as a result of increased cAMP^{39–41}. There is potential for A2ar agonists to be anti-inflammatory in ischemia reperfusion injury⁴². A2aR and A2bR have

both been implicated in reducing foam cell formation, which is a feature of atherosclerosis^{43,44}. However, it has been demonstrated that knocking out the A2ar has a protective outcome in a mouse model of hypercholesterolemia largely due to the fact that macrophages in these mice are pro-inflammatory and therefore reduce atherosclerotic lesions⁴⁵. Furthermore, adenosine receptors contribute to wound healing and modulate cytokine production by macrophages of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease^{29,46}.

1.5 Prostaglandin in the immune system:

Prostaglandins are bioactive lipids present in many tissues that are implicated in processes including proliferation, angiogenesis, and inflammation. They are part of the prostanoid family of lipids, which are synthesized step-wise from fatty acids. There are numerous prostaglandins that can be synthesized, including PGI₂, PGD₂, and PGF₂, but the most studied and widely acting prostaglandin is PGE₂. PGE₂ is typically seen as a perpetuator of inflammation, which is why it is the target of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). This is true for many cell types including T and B cells. However, the opposite is true for macrophages, as PGE₂ promotes the production of anti-inflammatory molecules and the shutting off of cytokine production.

PGE₂ synthesis and secretion

First, phospholipases hydrolyze membrane phospholipids, releasing arachidonic acid⁴⁷. Next, arachidonic acid is oxidized into PGG₂ and reduced to PGH₂ by the cyclooxygenase enzymes COX-1 and COX-2⁴⁷. These two enzymes are highly upregulated throughout the immune system in response to pro-inflammatory signals^{48,49}. Lastly, PGH₂ is converted into PGE₂ via three synthases: mPGES-1, mPGES-2, and

cPGES⁴⁹. PGE₂ levels are regulated by both its synthesis and by its degradation. 15-PGDH and 13-PGR are catabolic enzymes that rapidly remove PGE_2 from the cellular environment⁵⁰.

PGE₂ receptor signaling

Macrophages respond to PGE_2 via four transmembrane G-protein coupled receptors: EP1-4. EP2 and EP4 are coupled to G α s proteins, which stimulate intracellular cAMP production⁵¹. In combination with TLR stimulation, PGE₂ inhibits IL-12 and TNF and partially decreases IL-6 production by macrophages^{52–54}. At the same time, PGE₂ enhances IL-10 release from mouse macrophages in a PKA-dependent manner⁵⁵. PGE₂ inhibits inflammasome activation in macrophages via signaling through the EP4 receptor, dampening the production of IL-1 β ⁵⁶. Additionally, IL-17 production is increased in the presence of PGE₂ therefore promoting M2 macrophage microenvironments⁵⁷. Our lab previously showed that mouse macrophages stimulated with LPS and PGE₂ exhibit an immuno-regulatory phenotype⁵⁸.

PGE₂ and the immune response

 PGE_2 helps to regulate the activation of many cells of the innate immune system⁵⁹. The involvement of PGE_2 in acute inflammation has been well-documented⁶⁰ but, in contrast, PGE_2 has also been demonstrated to also play a significant role in immunosuppression^{60,61}. Inflammation in the lung in response to allergens and pollutants, as well as colonic inflammation, is dampened by PGE_2 through the EP4 receptor signaling on macrophages^{62,63}. PGE_2 also downregulates MHC class II expression on dendritic in lymphoid organs in order to decrease antigen presentation⁶⁴. It has been demonstrated that PGE_2 inhibits the phagocytosis of bacterial pathogens and bacterial killing by alveolar macrophages in a dose-dependent manner^{65,66}. Along with this, many bacteria and intracellular parasites, including *L. donovani*, have developed mechanisms to stimulate PGE₂ production by macrophages in order to suppress inflammation and promote survival inside the host^{59,67,68}.

Cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors are commonly used NSAID drugs that inhibit inflammatory responses. However, it has been shown that chronic inhibition of the COX enzymes in macrophages drives them towards a pro-inflammatory phenotype, partly due to lower synthesis of PGE₂⁶⁹. Furthermore, it has been proposed that these classic inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis may act to prolong chronic inflammation when taken during the resolving phase⁷⁰. Macrophages are well-known producers of PGE₂⁷¹. Exposure of macrophages to LPS increases arachidonic acid metabolism, leading to greater PGE₂ secretion⁷². Since macrophages synthesize endogenous PGE₂, we recognize the profound effects of this molecule on the regulation of macrophage activation.

1.6 Interferons and innate immunity:

Type I Interferon

Interferons (IFNs) are cytokines that are best known for their involvement in the immune response to viral pathogens. However, IFNs also affect the response to microbial pathogens, the stimulation of antigen presentation, cell proliferation and apoptosis⁷³. Type I IFNs include IFN α and IFN β and signal through the heterodimeric IFN α receptor (IFNAR). Signaling through IFNAR activates Janus kinase 1 (JAK1) and tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2), followed by activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) transcription factors, STAT1 and STAT2 as well as IFN regulatory factor 9 (IRF9)^{74,75}. Type I IFNs can be produced by many cells and in macrophages they

can be produced following stimulation of TLR4, TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9¹⁸. The effects of Type I IFN in response to bacterial infection are complicated and not fully understood. Often times they can contribute to host resistance to bacteria but sometimes they can promote bacterial survival via suppression of the innate immune response⁷⁶. In mouse models of sepsis, Type I IFN deficiency led to a reduction in endotoxin lethality despite no change in inflammatory cytokine levels⁷⁷. Type I IFNs also have contradicting roles in autoimmune disorders. Patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) have increased type I interferon in circulation that is thought to promote disease⁷⁸. On the other hand, IFNβ administration is an effective treatment for multiple sclerosis⁷⁹. The activity of Type I IFNs appears to be highly context dependent.

Type II Interferon

The Type II IFN family consists solely of IFNγ, which signals through a heterodimeric IFNγ receptor to activate JAK1 and JAK2, which subsequently activate STAT1⁸⁰. Further downstream, IRF1 is strongly induced by IFNγ which promotes Th1 responses^{73,81}. IFNγ is highly efficient at priming macrophages for enhanced bacterial killing and inflammation⁸². Its ability to enhance bacterial killing is largely mediated through nitric oxide and superoxide production^{83,84}. IFNγ is used as effective treatment for patients with chronic granulomatous disease, in which phagocytes are defective in superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production⁸⁵. Priming also acts in coordination with TLR signaling to stabilize mRNAs that encode inflammatory genes leading to more efficiency in both transcription and translation of these proteins^{86,87}. Type II IFN is mainly produced by natural killer (NK) cells and Th1 cells in response to infection⁸⁸. While it is highly effective at stimulating innate immune cells to control pathogens, it can

have negative consequences for the host. For example, IFN γ contributes to the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis and SLE^{89,90}. Overall, IFN γ is effective at potentiating inflammatory immune responses.

1.7 Colony-stimulating factors:

M-CSF and GM-CSF are both colony-stimulating factors that are important in myeloid cell differentiation and immune modulation. Many studies have addressed the role of these two growth factors in terms of cell survival, as they prolong the life of macrophages and are regulators of hematopoiesis. A few gene expression studies have been done comparing macrophages differentiated in each growth factor in both mouse and human^{33,91–93}. However, extensive research has not been done on the inflammatory response of both M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophage populations and their sensitivity to endogenous mediators.

M-CSF

M-CSF signals through the C-FMS receptor or CSF-1R. This receptor is a single pass type I membrane protein and has a tyrosine kinase domain⁹⁴. Upon binding of M-CSF, receptors dimerize. Downstream of this receptor is PI3K, Src family kinases, Ras, ERK1/2, Akt, and PLC γ 2 signaling^{94–96}. SHIP2 tyrosine phosphorylation following M-CSF stimulation leads to reduced Akt activation and inhibition of NF κ B gene transcription independently of a functional SH2 domain, unlike SHIP1⁹⁷. Macrophages have been shown to regulate the levels of M-CSF in circulation by CSF-1R mediated endocytosis⁹⁸.

M-CSF is produced ubiquitously by many cells types including endothelial cells, lymphocytes, fibroblasts and monocytes⁹⁹. CSF1R is critical for the maintenance of

monocyte and macrophage populations. Mice lacking CSF1R are deficient in several tissue macrophage populations including Kupffer cells, microglia and skin macrophages¹⁰⁰. The addition of recombinant human M-CSF in mice resulted in a significant increase in blood monocytes in circulation and an expansion of resident macrophage populations¹⁰¹. Increased levels of M-CSF have been reported in numerous diseases including arthritis, pulmonary fibrosis, inflammatory bowel disease, and cancer¹⁰². A number of monoclonal antibodies and small molecules targeting the CSF-1R have been in clinical trials for targeting solid tumors¹⁰².

GM-CSF

GM-CSF signals via the β c receptor Type I cytokine receptor family, similarly to IL-3 and IL-5. A ternary complex between the β c receptor, the GM-CSF receptor specific alpha chain and the GM-CSF molecule is required for signaling¹⁰³. Downstream of the GM-CSF receptor complex is JAK2/STAT5 activation, MAPK, and PI3 kinase/Akt pathway activation^{104,105}. GM-CSF also activates NF κ B by interaction of the alpha chain of the GM-CSF receptor and I κ B kinase¹⁰⁶. Further downstream, GM-CSF activates IRF5 transcription factor, which shapes macrophage polarization¹⁰⁷. It has recently been shown to also activate IRF4 in order to drive the CCL17.

GM-CSF, like M-CSF, can also be produced by endothelial cells, epithelial cells, and fibroblasts that are activated, but is mainly produced by TH_{17} T cells and innate lymphoid cells in response to infection or trauma⁹⁹. The inflammatory cytokine, IL-1 appears to be particularly important in the induction of GM-CSF from a number of cell types^{108–111}. There are a multitude of diseases in which the circulating levels of GM-CSF are increased including encephalomyelitis, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic inflammation¹¹², and even allergic responses¹¹³. Multiple clinical trials for monoclonal antibodies to GM-CSF have been undertaken in the context of rheumatoid arthritis, asthma and multiple sclerosis¹⁰². The main tissue in which GM-CSF is constitutively expressed is the lung. Humans with a point mutation in the common beta chain of the GM-CSF receptor develop a condition called pulmonary alveolar proteinosis (PAP)¹¹⁴. Mice lacking GM-CSF develop lung abnormalities and also have symptoms mirroring PAP¹¹⁵. Additionally, these GM-CSF deficient mice are more susceptible to local infections, in the lung particularly¹¹⁵. For example, neutralization of GM-CSF in mice led to a reduction in protective immunity to histoplasma infection, indicating that this cytokine plays a role in host defense¹¹⁶.

1.8 Macrophage activation during disease or injury

Sepsis

Macrophages are critical drivers of inflammation due to their potent cytokine producing capabilities. In the case of sepsis, this high level of cytokine production, known as a "cytokine storm", by macrophages in the early phases of infection is what leads to a high mortality rate for the host. Sepsis is a serious condition that affects over 30 million people per year, and results in over 5 million deaths. The blockade of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF and IL-1 have proven to be inefficacious in the reversal of sepsis. However, the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 contributes significantly to the progression of the disease. Cecal ligation and puncture model (CLP) in IL-10 knockout mice was associated with 15-fold higher serum levels of TNF, but treatment with recombinant IL-10 led to improved survival and a longer therapeutic window for rescue surgery¹¹⁷. Regulatory macrophages are partly defined by their ability

to secrete increased amounts of IL-10. A previous graduate student in our lab demonstrated in mice, that macrophages stimulated with LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE_2 had a protective effect on mouse survival when injected into the peritoneum of the mice in an endotoxemia model¹¹⁸. Additionally, earlier work in our lab demonstrated that Fc γ R ligation promotes IL-10 production in mice, leading to protection in sepsis models¹¹. Therefore, multiple methods of generating these regulatory macrophages can have a potentially therapeutic effect in sepsis.

Tumor associated macrophages

Macrophages are one of the main immune cells residing in the tumor microenvironment. These macrophages are termed tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) and generally are not activated against the tumor. The production of proinflammatory cytokines by macrophages in the tumor environment is critical for the activation of cytotoxic T cell responses¹¹⁹. A few treatment strategies such as checkpoint inhibitors and CAR T cell therapies targeting tumor antigens have proven successful in many cancer patients. However, it has been demonstrated that in those patients in which these immunotherapies are unsuccessful, there can be an abundance of tumor associated myeloid cell infiltrates, including macrophages¹²⁰. These macrophages display an immunosuppressive, and pro-angiogenic phenotype. Tumors secrete immunosuppressive molecules, including both adenosine and PGE₂, which we believe shapes the macrophage phenotype to one that is anti-inflammatory and angiogenic in order to support the tumor's growth^{121,122}. Therefore, methods of reversing or preventing this macrophage phenotype could prove beneficial in cancer patients.

Intracellular Parasitic Infections

Macrophages are host to numerous parasitic and bacterial pathogens. These pathogens include Leishmania, Mycobacteria, Toxoplasma, and Trypanosoma, among others¹²³. These pathogens reside intracellularly and have evolved numerous mechanisms to evade the intense macrophage anti-pathogen response. The anti-pathogen response includes the formation of reactive nitrogen and oxygen species, protease activation, programmed cell death, and cytokine production¹²⁴. The phenotype of macrophages largely affects the survival of these pathogens within them. For example, many studies have demonstrated that L. major have decreased cell proliferation and increased death in macrophages that produce nitric oxide and super oxide in mice¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸. A number of molecules can stimulate macrophages to produce these oxygen radicals including zymosan, LPS and IFNy. GM-CSF also changes the macrophage phenotype leading to poor L. major and L. tropicana survival^{129,130}. Additionally, GM-CSF has been shown to increase hydrogen peroxide release by mouse peritoneal macrophages and GM-CSF cultured microglia restricted the intracellular multiplication of *T. gondii* via the synthesis of reactive nitrogen intermediates^{131,132}. GM-CSF also leads to greater control of T. cruzi by inhibiting its replication via increased IL-12, NO and IFNy production^{133,134}. Conversely, *M. tuberculosis* seem to have increased survival in GM-CSF macrophages compared to M-CSF macrophages¹³⁵. One study showed that adding M-CSF to restore homeostatic levels in the lungs of *M. tuberculosis* infected mice, led to greater activation of the adaptive immune response to the pathogen and led to decreased survival¹³⁶. Overall, manipulation of the macrophage phenotype has clear consequences for the survival of intracellular pathogens.

Wound Healing

Macrophages play a critical role in the response to injury in muscle, skeleton, skin and other organs. While macrophages initially mount an inflammatory immune response following injury, they also are active in the return to homeostasis¹³⁷. An early study in mice found that the depletion of macrophages in the wound sites led to delayed debridement and also slowed fibroblast recruitment and proliferation affecting the wound closure time¹³⁸. The wound healing process is largely orchestrated by the macrophage secretome. The secretome includes molecules like TGF^β, VEGF and EGF, which have been shown to be essential for angiogenesis. One early study indicated that recombinant human M-CSF accelerated wound healing in non-ischemic wounds in rabbits by significantly increasing the levels of TGF β^{139} . The timing of the conversion of inflammatory, TNF producing macrophages to growth promoting, TGF β secreting macrophages is particularly important in muscle regeneration^{140,141}. Other molecules secreted by macrophages, such as anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10, IL-4 and IL-13 along with lipid mediators like lipoxins and resolvins can contribute to the initiation of tissue repair. In muscle, infiltrating blood monocytes that differentiate into macrophages convert to pro-regenerative macrophages that promote the growth of new myofibers once phagocytosis of debris is complete¹⁴². Macrophages also indirectly contribute to wound healing by recruiting other cell types such as fibroblasts, mesenchymal cells and mesoangioblasts¹⁴³. Subsequently, macrophages promote the proliferation of these cells at the wound site in order to instruct the tissue repair mechanism and initiate angiogenesis¹⁴⁴. If macrophages do not function properly during wound healing, this can lead to fibrosis.

1.9 Scope and Limitations

The research in this dissertation was performed on human monocyte-derived macrophages. These cells represent a subset of macrophages in the host that develop once monocytes migrate into different tissues in response to inflammatory signals, and subsequently encounter colony-stimulating factors. We studied these macrophages due to the feasibility of their collection from human blood. Although these macrophages are separate in origin from yolk sac or fetal liver-derived tissue macrophages, we believe that all macrophages exhibit plasticity and can respond to molecules in their microenvironment in order to alter their phenotype.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Mouse BMDM preparation

Bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells were flushed from the femurs of 6-8 week old C57/bl6J mice (Cat# 000664, Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) in saline containing 1% penicillin/streptomycin¹⁴⁵. Cells were plated on petri dishes in DMEM/F-12 + Glutamax media (Cat# 10565018, Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) containing 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (Cat# S11550, Atlanta Biologicals, Flowery Branch, GA) supplemented with 20% conditioned media obtained from the culture of the L-929 mouse fibroblast cell line (Cat# ATCC). New media was added on day 4. On day 7, differentiated macrophages were removed from petri dishes using Cell stripper (Corning). Other strains of mouse macrophages were also used including A2br^{-/-146}, A2ar^{-/-} and STAT1^{-/-} mice (Cat#s 010685, 012606, Jackson Laboratory).

2.2 Mouse BMDM stimulation

Mouse macrophages were stimulated with the following reagents: 10 ng/mL ultra pure LPS from Escherichia coli K12, IFN γ 10000 U/mL, IFN β 10000 U/mL, and IFN λ 10000 U/mL. They were also stimulated with various TLR-ligands (Cat# tlrl-kit1mw, Invivogen).

2.3 Human macrophage differentiation

Whole blood was isolated from healthy donors under University of Maryland, IRB approved protocols. Human monocytes were isolated via density gradient centrifugation followed by negative isolation using immunomagnetic beads (Cat# 130-096-537, Miltenyi Biotec, San Diego, CA). Monocytes were cultured for 7 days in X-VIVO 15 serum-free media (Cat# 04-744Q, Lonza, Walkersville, MD) containing 1% penicillin-

streptomycin, 1% L-glutamine (Cat# 25-005-CI, Gibco, Gaithersburg, MD), and supplemented with either 30 ng/mL recombinant human M-CSF or 20 ng/mL recombinant human GM-CSF (Cat# AF-300-25, Cat# 300-03 respectively, Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ). Media containing either growth factor was replenished on day 4 following initial culture. Prior to stimulation on day 7, media containing growth factor was replaced with X-VIVO 15 media containing 5% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (Cat # S11550, Atlanta Biologicals, Flowery Branch, GA).

2.4 Human macrophage stimulation

LPS stimulated macrophages were generated by the addition of 10ng/mL ultra pure LPS from Escherichia coli K12 (Invivogen, San Diego, CA). LPS + Adenosine macrophages were generated by the addition of 10 ng/mL LPS and 50 µM adenosine (Cat# A4036, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). LPS + PGE₂ macrophages were generated by the addition of 10 ng/mL LPS and 50 nM PGE₂ (Cat# 2296, Tocris, Bristol, UK). Pharmacological inhibitors, ONO AE3 208, PF 04418948, SCH 442416, were used to inhibit EP4, EP2 and A2aR, respectively (Cat#s 3565, 4818, 2463, Tocris). TLR agonists, FSL-1, HKLM, Loxoribine, and Poly I:C were added to macrophages for 4 hours (Cat#s tlrl-fsl, tlrl-hklm, tlrl-lox, tlrl-pic Invivogen). Cell permeable cAMP analogs, 8-Bromo-cAMP, specific for PKA, and 8-pCPT-2-O-Me-cAMP-AM, specific for Epac, were added to stimulated macrophages for 24 hours (Cat#s 1140 and 4853, respectively, Tocris).

2.5 RNA sequencing sample and library preparation

Total RNA was isolated from macrophages using the Trizol reagent. RNA cleanup was done using RNeasy Mini Kit columns (Cat# 74106, Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). RNA
quality was determined using an Agilent 2100 bioanalyzer. Poly(A)+-enriched cDNA libraries were generated using the Illumina TruSeq sample preparation kit (Cat#s 16027084, 15027387, 1502062, Illumina, San Diego, CA) and quality of the cDNA was determined again with the bioanalyzer. Paired end reads (100bp) were obtained from an Illumina HiSeq 1500. Reads were aligned the human to genome (Homo sapiens.GrCh38.79) obtained from the UCSC browser genome (http://genome.ucsc.edu) using Kallisto¹⁴⁷. Count tables were restricted to protein-coding genes (34,425) and on-expressed or weakly expressed genes (<1 read per million in n=5 samples) were removed prior to subsequent analyses, resulting in 12,857 genes analyzed. Quantile normalization and log₂-transformation was done on all samples.

2.6 RNA sequencing data assessment, visualization and differential expression analysis

Limma, a Bioconductor package, was used to perform differential expression analysis. The voom module was used to transform the data based on observational level weights derived from the mean-variance relationship prior to statistical modeling. Experimental batch effects were adjusted for by including experimental batch as a covariate in our statistical model. Differentially expressed genes were defined as genes with a log_2 fold-change > 1 and a Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) multiple-testing adjusted p. value < 0.05. All components of the statistical pipeline, named cbcbSEQ, can be accessed on GitHub (https://github.com/kokrah/cbcbSEQ/).

2.7 Single cell RNA-sequencing sample and library preparation

Monocyte derived macrophages generated in M-CSF from a single donor were stimulated for 4 hours with nothing, LPS, LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ and processed according to the 10x library preparation method. Briefly, Gel Beads-in-emulsion (GEMs) were generated by combining Single Cell 3' v3 Gel Beads, master mix containing cells, and partitioning oil onto Chromium Chip B. Following GEM generation, the Gel Beads were dissolved and mixed with primers containing the 10x Barcode, a TruSeq sequencing primer, a unique molecular identifier and a poly(dT) sequence, in order to produce full-length, barcoded cDNA. This barcoded cDNA was amplified by PCR in order to construct libraries. The above components were included in a library construction kit (Cat# PN-1000075, 10x Genomics, San Francisco, CA). Libraries were sequenced using paired-end Illumina sequencing.

2.8 Single Cell RNA-sequencing analysis

The samples were sequenced and processed with cell ranger 3.0.1 at Genetics the Johns Hopkins Resources Core Facility. The resulting merged by outputs were passed to Seurat 3.1.0, sample, and filtered to remove cells with high mitochondrial content (> 15%) and few features (< 200).The remaining data passed through the default was Seurat pipeline. The analysis was done on 17306 cells, with an average of 4327 cells per sample. The analysis entailed normalization, variable feature selection, data scaling, neighbor and cluster searches, the accompanying visualizations, and differential expression of markers across conditions and samples.

2.9 ELISA

Cytokine and growth factor levels were measure in the supernatants of 24 hour stimulated macrophages. IL-12p40 and TNF were measured using paired antibody ELISA kits (Cat# BMS2013MST, Invitrogen, Vienna, Austria and Cat# 555212, BD Biosciences,

24

San Diego, CA). GM-CSF, VEGF, and THBS1 were measured using DuoSet ELISA kits (Cat#s DY215, DY293B, DY3074, respectively, R&D, Minneapolis, MN).

IL-6 and IL-10 were also measured using OptEIA ELISA sets (Cat#s 555220 and 555157, respectively, BD Biosciences).

2.10 Quantitative real-time PCR

RNA was isolated from cells using the Trizol reagent. cDNA was synthesized using Superscript VILO cDNA synthesis kit. Relative quantitation of transcript levels was performed using SYBR-Green. Samples were analyzed in a Roche Light Cycler 480. Expression levels were calculated using the Δ Ct method relative to the geometric mean of GAPDH and RAB7 as internal control genes. The primer sequences used to measure transcripts are listed in Table 1.

Table 1. Primer Sequences

Gene	Accession number	Sequence
GAPDH		
Forward	NM 002046.7	5'-ATAAATTGAGCCCGCAGCC-3'
Reverse	_	5'-CATGTAAACCATGTAGTTGAGGTC-3'
RAB7		
Forward	NM_177403.5	5'-GGTTCCAGTCTCTCGGTGTG-3'
Reverse	_	5'-CGCTTTGTGGCCACTTGTC-3'
THBS1		
Forward	NM_003246.4	5'-GAAGGACTCTGACGGCGATG-3'
Reverse		5'-GATGTCCCTTTGGGGGTCCAG-3'
CD300E		
Forward	NM_181449.3	5'-GTTTCCCCAGCAATTACAACCC-3'
Reverse	_	5'-CAGAAGACAGCACCCAGCAT-3'
AREG		
Forward	NM_001657.4	5'-TGTCGCTCTTGATACTCGGC-3'
Reverse	_	5'-GGCATTTCACTCACAGGGGA-3'
VEGFA		
Forward	NM 001171623.1	5'-CATGCCAAGTGGTCCCAGG-3'
Reverse	—	5'-GCTGGCTTTGGTGAGGTTTG-3'
CD93		
Forward	NM 012072.4	5'-TGGAGAACCAGTACAGTCCG-3'
Reverse	_	5'-GAGTCACGAAATCCCCACCG-3'
CXCL13		
Forward	NM 006419.2	5'-TCTCTCCAGTCCAAGGTGTTC-3'
Reverse	_	5'-AGCTTGAGGGTCCACACAC-3'
MMP10		
Forward	NM_002425.3	5'-CAGGCATTTGGATTTTTCTACTTCT-3'
Reverse		5'-CTGTCTTCCCCCTATCTCGC-3'
RGS2		
Forward	NM_002923.4	5'-AAGAGCGAGGAGAAGCGAG-3'
Reverse		5'-GCAAGACCATATTTGCTGGCT-3'
TGFA		
Forward	NM_003236.4	5'-CCTGTTCGCTCTGGGTATTGT-3'
Reverse		5'-GGTGATGGCCTGCTTCTTCT-3'
ADORA2A		
Forward	NM_001278497	5'-CATCCCGCTCCGGTACAATG-3'
Reverse		5'-TGGTTCTTGCCCTCCTTTGG-3'
ADORA2B		
Forward	NM_000676.2	5'-GACGCCCACCAACTACTTCC-3'
Reverse		5'-TTTATACCTGAGCGGGACACA-3'
PTGER2		
Forward	NM_000956.4	5'-GCTCCTTGCCTTTCACGATTT-3'
Reverse		5'-AGGATGGCAAAGACCCAAGG-3'
PTGER4		
Forward	NM 000958.3	5'-CCGCTCGTGGTGCGAGTATT-3'

Reverse		5'-GGCCTGACATGGCAGAAGAT-3'
COX1		
Forward	NM_000962.4	5'-TGGTTCTTGCTGTTCCTGCT-3'
Reverse		5'-CACAGGCCAGGGATGGTG-3'
COX2		
Forward	NM_000963.4	5'-CATCCCCTTCTGCCTGACAC-3'
Reverse		5'-TCCTACCACCAGCAACCCTG-3'
MPGES1		
Forward	NM_004878.5	5'-GAAGTGGCTGATGGGAACCA-3'
Reverse		5'-GGAGGGAGAGGGGAGTGATGT-3'
Mouse A2AR		
Forward	NM_009630.3	5'-CCATTCGCCATCACCATCAG-3'
Reverse		5'-CCCGTCACCAAGCCATTGTA-3'
Mouse A2BR		
Forward	NM_007413.4	5'-GACTCTTCGCCATCCCCTTT -3'
Reverse		5'-ACAGCAATGATCCCTCTCGC-3'

2.11 Measurement of PGE₂ production

Prostaglandin E2 levels in the supernatants of 24 hour LPS stimulated M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages were measured using a monoclonal antibody competitive ELISA kit (Cat # 514010, Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI).

2.12 Measurement of ATP degradation

M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages were given a spike of 20 µM ATP (Cat# A6419, Sigma-Aldrich). Supernatants were collected at 2 hours, 1 hour, 30 minutes and 15 minutes following this spike and ATP was measured using the ATPlite reagent (Cat# 6016941, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA). Levels of ATP were normalized to the amount of protein in the wells using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit for protein quantification (Cat# 23227, ThermoScientific, Rockford, IL). Luminescence was read in the dark-adapted plate using a luminometer.

2.13 HUVEC tube formation assay

Primary human endothelial cells (HUVECs) were obtained and cultured in EGM-2 media (Cat# CC-3162, Lonza) on tissue culture treated plates coated with 1% gelatin from porcine skin (Cat# G1890, Sigma). For the assay, HUVEC cells were distributed at a concentration of 40,000 cells in each well of a 48-well plate. These wells contained growth factor reduced and phenol red-free Matrigel (Cat# 356231, Corning). Supernatants collected from M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages that were unstimulated, or stimulated with LPS, LPS + Adenosine, and LPS + PGE₂ for 24 hours were added to the HUVEC cells on the Matrigel and allowed to incubate for 24 hours. Images of the HUVEC cells were captured in brightfield on an inverted Nikon ECLIPSE Ti2 Microscope at 20x total magnification. Images were converted to high contrast using the

"Find edges" function in ImageJ in order to see the cells. Tube length and number of nodes were assessed manually using the ImageJ software.

2.14 Flow cytometry

CD300E and PLAUR surface expression was measured on macrophages stimulated for 24 hours and 8 hours, respectively, using APC conjugated antibodies (Cat# 17-3007-42 and Cat# 17-3879-42, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Fc block was used to reduce nonspecific binding (Cat# 130-059-901, Miltenyi Biotec). Debris and doublets were removed using gating analysis in FlowJo version X. Surface expression is expressed as median fluorescence intensity (MFI).

3 The effects of interferons on purinergic signaling in mouse

macrophages

Parts of this chapter are adapted from published work:

Cohen HB, Ward A, Hamidzadeh K, Ravid K, Mosser DM. IFN-γ Prevents Adenosine Receptor (A2bR) Upregulation To Sustain the Macrophage Activation Response. *J Immunol*. 2015;195(8):3828-3837. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501139

3.1 Introduction

It has previously been demonstrated in mouse macrophages that purinergic signaling dampens inflammatory responses to LPS^{29,148,149}. Specifically, inflammatory cytokines including TNF and IL-12p40 are significantly reduced in activated macrophages in the presence of ATP or adenosine^{26,150}. Purinergic signaling is thought to be a mechanism to control the level and duration of macrophage inflammation in the host. However, there are situations in which a prolonged inflammatory response is desirable, such as with severe infections. There are a number of signals that are associated with modulating the severity of an immune response, including interferons.

Interferons come in different varieties, called Type I, II and III. IFN beta (IFN β) and IFN alpha (IFN α) are Type I, IFN gamma (IFN γ) is Type II and IFN lambda (IFN λ) is Type III. M1 macrophages, which are generated by stimulation with IFN γ + LPS exhibit severe inflammation¹⁵¹. Our lab established a connection between interferons and the purinergic system in the mouse, by demonstrating that IFN γ priming of macrophages prevented the upregulation of the A2b receptor (A2br) following LPS stimulation⁷. We extended this research to further explore the effects of IFN γ on adenosine signaling in

macrophages, and we also examined the role of Type II interferon, IFN β , in the mouse macrophage response to LPS.

3.2 Results

Type II interferon modulation of macrophage activation. The action of IFNy priming of LPS stimulated mouse macrophages has been shown to significantly augment the levels of inflammatory cytokine production. It was demonstrated in our lab that this heightened inflammation was due to IFNy priming preventing the upregulation of the A2b receptor upon LPS stimulation⁷. As part of this work, we examined the effects of other TLR ligands on A2BR and A2AR mRNA expression (Figure 1). All of the TLR ligands tested (LPS-EK, Pam3Csk4, HKLM, Poly(I:C) LMW, Poly(I:C) HMW, ST-FLA, FSL-1 and ssRNA) which activate TLRs 1-9 upregulated mRNA levels for A2BR. In all stimulations except ssRNA, IFNy priming significantly downregulated expression of the A2BR (Figure 1A). As for A2AR mRNA levels, there was no significant difference between unprimed and IFNy primed macrophages (Figure 1B). In order to further validate the effect of IFNy priming on mouse macrophages, we looked at purinergic receptor expression in STAT1 -/- mouse BMDMs since IFN γ is known to signal through STAT1¹⁵². The prevention of the upregulation of A2BR mRNA by IFN γ priming was not observed in STAT1 -/- macrophages (Figure 2A). Additionally, STAT1 -/macrophages did not significantly differ in mRNA expression of A2AR (Figure 2B). As expected, the lack of STAT1 abrogated the effect of IFNy priming on TNF production following LPS stimulation and also allowed adenosine to function in decreasing the amount of TNF produced by LPS stimulated macrophages, presumably through the A2b receptor (Figure 3A)⁷. Preliminary data also suggested that the lack of STAT1



Figure 1. Adenosine receptor expression following IFN γ priming and stimulation with various TLR ligands. (A) A2BR and (B) A2AR mRNA expression was measured by qPCR following 16 hours of IFN γ priming and 4 hours of stimulation with TLR ligands (n=3, ** *P*-value < 0.01, **** *P*-value < 0.001, error bars represent SEM).



Figure 2. Adenosine receptor expression in STAT1 knockout BMDMs. (A) A2BR and (B) A2AR mRNA expression was measured in WT (black) and STAT1 KO (grey) macrophages following 16 hours of IFN γ priming and 4 hours of LPS stimulation (n=3, **** *P*-value < 0.0001 relative to WT LPS alone, #### *P*-value < 0.0001 between WT and KO, error bars represent SEM).

Figure generated with Dr. Heather B. Cohen



Figure 3. Cytokine levels in WT and STAT1 knockout BMDMs. Macrophages were unprimed or primed for 16 hours with IFN γ followed by LPS stimulation for 8 hours at which point supernatants were collected and assayed for (A) TNF by ELISA (n=3, **** *P*-value < 0.0001, error bars represent SEM). Preliminary data is shown for (B) IL-12p40 and (C) IL-10 levels assayed by ELISA (n=2, error bars represent SD).

Figure generated with Dr. Heather B. Cohen

diminished the inhibitory effect of IFNγ priming on adenosine signaling in terms of IL-12p40 (Figure 3B) and IL-10 production (Figure 3C). Next we examined the effect of A2br -/- on inflammatory cytokine production and demonstrated that the downregulation of IL-12p40 by adenosine is mediated largely through the A2b receptor for both unprimed and IFNγ primed macrophages (Figure 4A). IFNγ primed macrophages stimulated with LPS + Adenosine also significantly differed in terms of TNF production in WT and A2br -/- mice (Figure 4B). A time course experiment indicated that TNF levels were significantly higher in A2br -/- macrophages between 0-2 hours in the presence of LPS, however this difference was not sustained over time in the proceeding absence of LPS (Figure 4C).

Type I interferon modulation of macrophage activation. We wondered whether priming with Type I or III interferons had any effects on the purinergic pathway. While IFN γ lowers mRNA expression for A2BR, IFN β significantly increased mRNA expression for both A2BR (Figure 5A) and A2AR (Figure 5B) while IFN λ had no significant effects. Therefore, we continued to investigate the effect of IFN β by examining adenosine receptor expression in IFNAR -/- mice (Figure 6). mRNA expression of A2BR was higher in LPS stimulated IFNAR -/- BMDMs, but there was no difference in its expression in IFN β primed WT and IFNAR-/- BMDMs (Figure 6A). The upregulation of A2AR mRNA expression by IFN β priming was abolished in IFNAR -/- BMDMs (Figure 6B). IFN β priming did not significantly change the levels of IL-12p40 or TNF in WT BMDMs but increased the levels of IL-10 (Figure 7). A2AR -/-BMDMs also did not significantly differ in IL-12p40 (Figure 7A) or TNF levels (Figure 7B) relative to WT BMDMs with the exception of IFN γ priming which led to lower



Figure 4. Cytokine levels in WT and A2B receptor knockout BMDMs. Macrophages were unprimed or primed for 16 hours with IFN γ followed by LPS stimulation for 8 hours at which point supernatants were collected and assayed for (A) IL-12p40 and (B) TNF (n=3, * *P*-value < 0.05, ** *P*-value < 0.01, **** *P*-value < 0.0001, error bars represent SEM). (C) Unprimed and IFNg primed macrophages were stimulated with LPS for 2 hours followed by a wash. Supernatants were collected at subsequent incubation timepoints following the wash and assayed for TNF levels (n=4, *** *P*-value < 0.001, error bars represent SEM).



Figure 5. Adenosine receptor expression following priming with Type I, II and III IFNs. mRNA expression of (A) A2BR and (B) A2AR was measured by RT-PCR following 16 hours of priming with IFN γ , IFN β , and IFN λ and subsequent stimulation for 4 hours with LPS (n=3, *** *P*-value < 0.001, **** *P*-value < 0.0001, error bars represent SEM).



Figure 6. Adenosine receptor expession in IFNAR knockout BMDMs. (A) A2BR and (B) A2AR mRNA expression was measured in WT (black) and IFNAR KO (hatched) macrophages following 16 hours of priming with IFN β and 4 hours of LPS stimulation (n=3, ** *P*-value < 0.01, **** *P*-value < 0.0001, error bars represent SEM).



Figure 7. Cytokine levels in WT and A2A receptor knockout BMDMs. Macrophages were unprimed or primed for 16 hours with IFN γ or IFN β followed by LPS, and LPS + Ado stimulation for 8 hours at which point supernatants were collected and assayed for (A) IL-12p40, (B) TNF and (C) IL-10 secretion (n=3, error bars represent SEM).

levels of these inflammatory cytokines relative to WT. In contrast, A2AR -/- BMDMs produced significantly lower levels of IL-10 following LPS and LPS + Adenosine stimulation in unprimed and IFN β primed macrophages (Figure 7C). Based on our results we concluded that priming with Type I and Type II interferons had different effects on the purinergic pathway in mouse macrophages.

3.4 Discussion

It is widely accepted that IFN γ treatment of macrophages renders them hyperinflammatory. We demonstrated that this is partly due to the prevention of the upregulation of the A2B receptor and that this mechanism is universal for a number of pathogenic components that activate different TLR ligands in macrophages⁷. We also demonstrated that the adenosine A2A receptor is not implicated in the IFN γ primed macrophage response. We verified that the effects of IFN γ on A2B receptor expression and TNF production were mediated through the STAT1 signaling pathway as its effects were diminished in STAT1 knockout macrophages. This was no surprise since IFN γ is known to signal through STAT1, so it should not be able to function if STAT1 is not present. We demonstrated using knockout macrophages that the A2b receptor is critical for the immunosuppressive effects of adenosine on IL-12p40 and TNF production by macrophages, but that its effects are not sustained in the absence of inflammatory stimulus.

In the literature, there are conflicting reports of the effects of IFN β treatment on inflammation, including cytokine production⁷⁶. We observed that IFN β increased transcription of both the A2BR and A2AR in macrophages, which suggests greater susceptibility to a spontaneous reversion to homeostasis. This is in contrast to the IFN γ

40

downregulation of the A2B receptor, which we believe indicates that IFN β instructs a milder and more controlled inflammatory response in macrophages. Studies in IFNAR knockout macrophages indicated that the upregulation of A2A receptor expression was mediated through IFN β and not IFN α . However, A2B receptor expression was significantly higher in LPS stimulated IFNAR knockout macrophages compared to WT, at levels roughly equal to the level induced by IFN β priming. This suggested that IFN α may play a role in suppressing A2BR expression in WT cells, as this IFN also signals through the IFNAR receptor, and that perhaps IFN β may oppose this effect. The A2a receptor contributed to the production of increased IL-10 in IFN β primed macrophages and their sensitivity to adenosine, as knockout macrophages produced lower levels of IL-10 compared to wild type. However, the A2a knockout macrophages did not produce notably different levels of TNF or IL-12p40. Altogether, the data in this chapter implicates a role for adenosine and its receptors in the potentiation of inflammation by IFN γ and IFN β in mouse macrophages.

<u>4</u> Characterization of the transcriptome of human M-CSF derived macrophages stimulated with LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂

4.1 Introduction

The study of human monocyte derived macrophages is critical, considering the importance of these cells in a number of organs. Monocytes infiltrate tissues and differentiate into macrophages following exposure to a constitutively expressed growth factor, M-CSF. They do so in response to infection, or to replenish the native populations of tissue macrophages that may have become depleted. It has been shown that monocyte derived macrophages are particularly important in the intestine, skin, and peritoneum as well as in disturbances such as atherosclerosis, muscle injury and inflammation¹⁵³.

In this research, we attempt to describe the phenotype of human monocyte derived macrophages stimulated by TLR ligands, such as LPS in the presence of adenosine (LPS + Adenosine) or prostaglandin E2 (LPS + PGE₂), using RNA sequencing. We believe that our samples and stimulation conditions mimic physiological environments that macrophages can potentially encounter in the body. For example, the tumor microenvironment contains high levels of purinergic signaling molecules as well as PGE₂. These molecules are also produced during inflammatory immune responses by macrophages and other cell types. We use RNA sequencing because it gives us a snapshot of the entire transcriptome at our chosen timepoints. This can allow us to characterize the nature and function of macrophages under different physiological contexts.

4.2 Results

RNA-sequencing analysis. RNA-seq was performed on unstimulated, LPS stimulated, LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated macrophages from 5 blood donors.

Differential expression analysis allowed us to determine the effects of adenosine and PGE_2 on LPS stimulation (Figure 8). Our analysis revealed that adenosine and PGE_2 have similar effects on the stimulated macrophage transcriptome. 4 of the 10 most highly upregulated genes and 5 of the 10 most downregulated genes in LPS + Adenosine (Figure 8A, starred) and LPS + PGE₂ (Figure 8B, starred) versus LPS alone were shared. Venn diagrams of the number of significant differentially expressed genes further highlight the degree of similarity between adenosine and PGE₂ stimulation relative to LPS stimulation alone (Figure 9A). 101 of the 259 upregulated genes and 91 of the 294 downregulated genes were shared by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulation. For comparison, LPS stimulation alone versus control leads to 1350 significantly differentially expressed genes (data not shown). This highlights the fact that the transcriptomic changes made by the addition of adenosine and PGE₂ to TLR stimulated macrophages are quite limited. However, at the same time, the addition of adenosine and PGE2 to TLR stimulated macrophages leads to a similar transcriptomic phenotype as indicated by spearman correlation analysis yielding a correlation coefficient of R = 0.772 (Figure 9B). Single cell RNA sequencing of M-CSF macrophages from 1 donor allowed us to compare the trancriptomic signature of a multitude of individual cells in order to see the variable expression of genes within a population. UMAP analysis was performed as a dimension reduction technique to cluster cells based on the variability of gene expression (Figure 10). LPS, LPS + PGE₂ and LPS + Adenosine stimulated macrophages cluster separately from unstimulated cells indicating relatively homogeneous stimulation throughout the macrophage population. There was some overlap between the LPS + PGE_2 and LPS +



Figure 8. Most highly upregulated and downregulated genes by adenosine and PGE₂ relative to LPS stimulated macrophages alone. Bulk RNA-seq was done on M-CSF macrphages and differential expression analysis was performed for (A) LPS + PGE₂ versus LPS and (B) LPS + Adenosine versus LPS. The top and bottom 10 genes are listed for each comparison. N=5 individuals, *P*-value < 0.05, $\log_2 FC > 2$, error bars represent SEM. (*) indicates genes in common between LPS+PGE₂/LPS and LPS+Adenosine/LPS.



Figure 9. Degree of transcriptional similarity between LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated macrophages. (A) The number of unique and shared DEGs of LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS alone are depicted as venn diagrams. (B) The log_2FC of the DEGs of LPS + Adenosine versus LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS alone are depicted on a scatter plot. Spearman correlation was performed to obtain a correlation coefficient (r) printed in the top left quadrant (*P*-value < 2.2⁻¹⁶).

Figure 9B generated with Dr. Ashton Trey Belew



Figure 10. Cluster visualisation of M-CSF macrophage single cell transcriptomes. Uniform manifold approximation and projection (UMAP) was used to arrange points (representing cells) based on their relative transcriptomes. Single cells clustered based on their stimulation conditions: unstimulated, LPS, LPS + Ado and LPS + PGE2.

Figure generated with Dr. Ashton Trey Belew

Adenosine clusters, further indicating that a number of cells in these stimulation conditions are transcriptionally similar.

Pathway Analysis. In order to explore the functional roles of macrophages stimulated with adenosine and PGE₂ we took a closer look at the genes modulated by these conditions. Of the most highly upregulated genes in common between LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ versus LPS alone, 10 of the top 20 genes have published growth promoting or anti-inflammatory roles (Figure 11A, purple). LYPD3, or C4.4A, deficiency has been implicated in delayed wound healing, and its expression levels correlate with cell invasiveness in numerous cancers^{154–158}. LIPN has been shown to be involved in proper formation of the skin barrier as a 2bp mutation in this gene led to ichthyosis¹⁵⁹. AREG is well known for its role in tissue restoration and is an activator of transforming growth factor beta¹⁶⁰. ACKR3, also known as CXCR7, is involved in angiogenesis and cell migration, as well as cancer cell invasiveness^{161,162}. KRT17 has recently been found to be overexpressed in a number of cancers and contributes to tumor cell invasiveness^{163,164}. Its primary role is in wound healing, but it also regulates skin inflammation^{165,166}. CXCR4 is a receptor for CXCL12, which has been shown to recruit macrophages to tumor environments and promote M2 phenotypes¹⁶⁷. THBS1 is involved in wound healing, the maintenance of homeostasis in the lung, and is an activator of latent TGFbeta^{168–170}. FFAR3 is a short-chain fatty acid receptor and stimulation of this receptor results in decreased inflammatory cytokine production by human monocytes¹⁷¹. CRISPLD2 has been shown to modulate proliferation of fetal lung fibroblasts and is involved in the regulation of extracellular matrix genes during wound healing¹⁷². Of the most highly downregulated genes in common between LPS + Adenosine and LPS +



Figure 11. Functional characteristics of shared DEGs between LPS + Adenosine and LPS+PGE2 relative to LPS stimulation. Differential expression analysis was performed and the list of shared (A) most highly upregulated genes and (B) most highly downregulated genes are depicted as the Log₂FC relative to LPS stimulation alone. The individual Log₂FC of each gene for LPS + Adenosine (green bars) and LPS + PGE₂ (blue bars) stimulations are shown. The genes colored in purple have roles in growth, proliferation and angiogenesis. The genes colored in red have roles in inflammation. N=5 individuals, *P*-value < 0.05, \log_2 FC > 1. (C) GO term analysis for molecular function was performed and the top 5 GO terms are plotted. Point size indicates # of DEGs in the GO term category. Point color indicates *P*-value. Rich factor is the ratio of the # of DEGs per # of genes in the GO term category.

PGE₂ versus LPS alone, 13 out of the bottom 20 genes have published roles in inflammation (Figure 11B, red). IL12B is an inflammatory cytokine that promotes the development of Th1 CD4⁺ T cells¹⁷³. CCL3L3/L1 are sequence variants of the same gene (CCL3), which is a chemokine that recruits CCR5 expressing cells¹⁷⁴. CCL8. CCL4L2, CCL1, CCL2, and CCL15 are also chemokines, which participate in the recruitment of immune cells to sites of inflammation¹⁷⁵⁻¹⁷⁷. CSF2 encodes GM-CSF, which can function as a cytokine to promote inflammation¹⁷⁸. TNF is a cytokine that mediates inflammation, anti-microbial immunity, and was named after its¹⁷⁹ cytotoxicity towards tumors. P2RX7 is a receptor for ATP, which plays a role in the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome¹⁸⁰. CMKLR1 encodes the receptor for chemerin, a potent macrophage chemoattractant¹⁸¹. IL27 is a member of the IL-12 family of cytokines and promotes expansion and IFN γ production by CD4⁺ T cells¹⁸². IL1A encodes an inflammatory cytokine that can function as an 'alarmin' and stimulates the production of chemokines¹⁸³. Our transcriptomic analysis suggests that the M-CSF macrophage response to adenosine and PGE₂ during inflammation is highly similar and overlapping. Gene ontology (GO) analysis of the list of shared differentially expressed genes by LPS + Adenosine and LPS+PGE₂ relative to LPS alone, revealed a number of processes that were significantly enriched. These included cytokine activity, chemokine activity, and growth factor activity among the top 5 most significantly enriched categories (Figure 11C). Using the pathway analysis software, Cytoscape, the differentially expressed genes shared by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ were separated into 5 predicted network clusters based on annotated signaling pathways (Figure 12). The first cluster includes the upregulation of a few growth promoting genes and the downregulation of cytokine genes,



Figure 12. Functional interaction groups in shared DEGs between LPS + PGE_2 and LPS + Ado relative to LPS stimulation. Clusters comprised of 47 and 43 genes (A and B, respectively) exhibit functional interactions depicted by edges/arrows. Genes from the shared DEGs in each cluster are depicted by colored circular nodes. The direction of differential expression is depicted by node border color: green represents upregulated and red represents downregulated genes. White diamond nodes represent predicted regulators. (A) Network consisting of genes involved in cytokine signaling and growth factor activity including TNF, IL1A, THBS1, TGFA and AREG. Regulators include AP-1 (Jus/Fos), NFKB1, and EP300. (B) Network consisting of genes involved in tissue repair including TGFB2 and BMP6. Regulators include UBC and GSK3B.



Figure 12 continued. Clusters comprised of 32, 26 and 35 genes (C, D, E respectively) exhibit functional interactions depicted by edges/arrows. (C) Network consisting of genes involved in inflammation including IL12B, CSF2, and IL27. Regulators include STAT1, STAT3 and STAT5A. (D) Network consisting of genes involved in chemokine activity including CCL1, CCL15, CCL8, CXCL10, CXCL11, CCR7 and CXCR4. Regulators include GNG2 and ARRB1. (E) Network consisting of growth promoting genes including VEGFA, CD300E, and PDGFB. REgulators include MAPK8, FYN and PIK3CA.

and predicts that NFkB, RelA, and AP-1 (fos, jun), among other transcription factors are involved in the regulation of these genes (Figure 12A). The second network consists of genes involved in tissue repair including TGFB2 and BMP6 and implicates UBC and GSK3B as regulators (Figure 12B). The third network includes two growth-promoting genes of interest, VEGFA and CD300E, and implicates the tyrosine kinases MAPK8 and FYN (Figure 12C). The fourth network predicts that STAT1, STAT3 and STAT5A are involved in the regulation of this group of genes including inflammatory CSF2 and IL12B (Figure 12D). The last network includes a number of differentially expressed chemokine genes, which are predicted to be regulated by GNG4, GNG2 and ARRB1 (Figure 12E).

Single Cell RNA-Sequencing Analysis. Single cell sequencing was performed in order to enhance our search for marker genes for regulatory macrophages. It allowed us to not only look for expression levels of genes, similar to bulk RNA-sequencing, but also to look at cell numbers expressing select genes. Lists of the most differentially expressed genes by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated cells versus LPS alone as determined by single cell sequencing are available in Table II and Table III, respectively. From these lists we chose a number of candidate marker genes, mainly encoding cell surface or secreted proteins, to examine their expression on a per cell basis for each sample, depicted in violin plots, which allowed us to look at the distribution of gene expression between cells of each stimulation (Figure 13) as well as feature plots which allowed us to see which specific cells had high and low expression of each gene (Figure 14). We hypothesized that some of these genes could serve as potential transcript biomarkers for LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ macrophages, including THBS1,

T	Table II. Single cell RNA sequencing markers for LPS + PGE, versus LPS						
		p_val	avg_logFC	pct.1	pct.2	p_val_adj	
	THBS1	0.000000e+00	1.5116250	0.712	0.181	0.000000e+00	
	FTH1	0.000000e+00	0.3905140	1.000	1.000	0.000000e+00	
	CCL3	0.000000e+00	-1.0605658	0.938	0.995	0.000000e+00	
	CCL4	0.000000e+00	-1.0990854	0.959	0.997	0.000000e+00	
	TNF	2.071387e-289	-1.4675118	0.088	0.493	6.781307e-285	
	GØS2	2.484608e-283	1.2760579	0.744	0.315	8.134109e-279	
	IL8	2.055254e-252	-0.5784006	0.996	0.999	6.728490e-248	
	FTL	4.241731e-217	0.3095936	1.000	1.000	1.388658e-212	
	SLAMF7	1.679642e-212	-0.6433449	0.762	0.941	5.498813e-208	
	NBN	3.915597e-197	-0.6210506	0.691	0.899	1.281888e-192	
	PRDX1	2.295205e-191	0.4720393	0.978	0.930	7.514041e-187	
	TIMP1	1.439140e-176	0.7002907	0.905	0.745	4.711456e-172	
	PLEK	1.671320e-175	-0.7291354	0.392	0.708	5.471567e-171	
	EREG	2.040622e-173	0.5781449	0.984	0.968	6.680588e-169	
	CYBA	2.862073e-172	0.4637345	0.953	0.857	9.369853e-168	
	PTX3	1.791745e-171	-1.1279416	0.287	0.620	5.865813e-167	
	RPS2	1.041126e-164	0.4048864	0.977	0.924	3.408439e-160	
	FNIP2	1.924515e-162	-0.6647760	0.511	0.783	6.300478e-158	
	MIR155HG	1.777701e-150	-0.6838640	0.358	0.668	5.819838e-146	
	CD300E	7.292776e-144	0.8285652	0.466	0.160	2.387509e-139	

Table III. Single cell RNA sequencing markers for LPS + Ado versus LPS

	0 1	0			
	p_val	avg_logFC	pct.1	pct.2	p_val_adj
THBS1	0.000000e+00	2.2714325	0.889	0.181	0.000000e+00
GØS2	0.000000e+00	1.9417623	0.839	0.315	0.000000e+00
CREM	0.000000e+00	1.8509289	0.892	0.200	0.000000e+00
INHBA	0.000000e+00	1.5476170	0.866	0.366	0.000000e+00
ATP1B3	0.000000e+00	1.4491966	0.926	0.569	0.000000e+00
CD300E	0.000000e+00	1.3897212	0.700	0.160	0.000000e+00
TIMP1	0.000000e+00	1.3845081	0.945	0.745	0.000000e+00
ISG15	0.000000e+00	1.3525049	0.995	0.956	0.000000e+00
PLAUR	0.000000e+00	1.1641703	0.936	0.675	0.000000e+00
EREG	0.000000e+00	1.0786691	0.997	0.968	0.000000e+00
SAMSN1	0.000000e+00	1.0551717	0.832	0.369	0.000000e+00
BTG1	0.000000e+00	0.8130690	0.980	0.866	0.000000e+00
PRDX1	0.000000e+00	0.7539932	0.981	0.930	0.000000e+00
FTH1	0.000000e+00	0.4473626	1.000	1.000	0.000000e+00
NCF2	0.000000e+00	-0.9195243	0.644	0.933	0.000000e+00
CYP1B1	0.000000e+00	-0.9656822	0.892	0.991	0.000000e+00
CCL2	0.000000e+00	-1.5773813	0.523	0.923	0.000000e+00
BHLHE41	3.781501e-292	-1.1658486	0.061	0.495	1.237988e-287
NBN	1.461365e-275	-0.8256825	0.602	0.899	4.784218e-271
REL	2.825889e-268	0.8714018	0.919	0.750	9.251397e-264

Tables II and III generated with Dr. Ashton Trey Belew



Figure 13. Violin plots of candidate RNA markers for LPS+Adenosine and LPS+PGE₂ stimulated M-CSF macrophages. Single cell RNA-seq was performed on M-CSF macrophages and differential expression analysis was done between sample stimulation groups: LPS + Ado (Red), LPS + PGE2 (Green), LPS (Teal), Unstimulated (Purple). From this analysis, 9 genes (A) THBS1, (B) VEGFA, (C) CD300E, (D) PLAUR, (E) OLR1, (F) G0S2, (G) CREM, (H) SAMSN1, and (I) INHBA, were selected based on their similar expression pattern between LPS + PGE₂ and LPS + Adenosine. These plots indicate the distribution of individual cells based on their expression level for these genes.



Figure 14. Feature plots of candidate RNA markers for LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE_2 stimulated M-CSF macrophages. Single cell RNA-seq was performed on M-CSF macrophages and differential expression analysis was done between sample stimulation groups. From this analysis, 9 genes (A) THBS1, (B) VEGFA, (C) CD300E, (D) PLAUR, (E) OLR1, (F) G0S2, (G) CREM, (H) SAMSN1, and (I) INHBA, were selected based on their similar expression pattern between LPS + PGE₂ and LPS + Adenosine. These plots indicate which cells are expressing these genes relative to one another on a scale of 0-3 (yellow-blue). The grey plot indicates the identity of the clusters based on stimulation condition.

VEGFA, CD300E, PLAUR, OLR1, G0S2, CREM, SAMSN1 and INHBA. A plot of the most variable genes between all 4 samples highlighted a number of genes that we believe comprise a part of the M1 macrophage signature, or the response to LPS, because these should theoretically be most different from both unstimulated and LPS + Adenosine or LPS + PGE₂ samples (Figure 15A). The top 30 genes are labeled and include CXCL10, CXCL11, TNF, IL23A, CCL3, CCL4 and a number of other chemokine genes. The genes colored in orange are those that were also found in the top 100 most highly upregulated genes by LPS stimulation versus unstimulated in our conventional RNA-sequencing data. Conventional RNA-sequencing also demonstrated that the majority of the top 25 most highly upregulated genes by LPS relative to unstimulated macrophages were significantly downregulated by either adenosine, PGE₂ or both (Figure 15B). This suggests that while the transcriptomic changes by adenosine and PGE₂ are limited, they have important consequences in the host.

4.3 Discussion

In this chapter we explored the effects of two molecules, adenosine and PGE_2 , which have previously been shown to modulate the aspects of the inflammatory response induced by LPS. We performed conventional RNA sequencing on macrophages stimulated with LPS in the presence of adenosine and PGE_2 , and found that their transcriptional program was highly similar using thorough differential expression analysis. This degree of similarity was observed in the number of shared DEGs between the two stimulation conditions. It was also observed in the direction and extent of the changes in gene expression, two parameters that were factored into the Spearman correlation analysis. Single-cell RNA sequencing also supported the likeness between



Figure 15. M1 genes in M-CSF macrophages. (A) The most significant variable genes among all samples (unstimulated, LPS, LPS + Ado and LPS + PGE₂) are indicated with red dots. The top 30 most variable genes are labeled. The genes labeled in orange are also found in the top 100 most differentially expressed genes by LPS versus unstimulated in bulk RNA-seq analysis. (B) The top 25 most highly upregulated genes by LPS (black) versus unstimulated (NS) macrophages and their log₂FC are depicted. The corresponding log₂FC of LPS + Ado (blue) and LPS + PGE₂ (green) versus NS is also depicted. (n=5, * indicates genes with a log₂FC > 1 and *P*-value < 0.05 relative to LPS as determined by differential expression analysis, error bars represent SEM).

Figure 15A generated with Dr. Ashton Trey Belew

adenosine and PGE₂ stimulated samples. We believe that this high degree of similarity could be attributed to signaling through g-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) which leads to the intracellular release of cAMP, and downstream activation of transcription factors that control numerous genes involved in immune responses. While similar, PGE₂ appeared to have a more pronounced effect on LPS stimulated macrophages than adenosine, due to a higher number of uniquely perturbed transcripts. However, this could be concentration dependent and perhaps it requires more adenosine to achieve even further overlap in transcriptomic phenotype with PGE₂.

Pathway analysis, including GO, and careful inspection of individual gene changes by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS alone led us to conclude that these stimuli lead to what our lab refers to as a "regulatory" phenotype. This regulatory phenotype was one characterized by the induction of growth promoting genes and the suppression of inflammatory genes. Single-cell RNA sequencing was performed in order to aid in our identification of potential biomarkers for LPS + adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated macrophages. This technique was powerful because it allowed us to look at the gene expression patterns of a large number of cells (roughly 4000 cells per sample). It also indicated to us that in vitro stimulation of macrophages is fairly homogeneous, since individual samples were stimulated in separate wells, but when all the sample data was combined during analysis, the cells clustered together according to their stimulation condition. We identified numerous transcripts that could be used as RNA biomarkers to find regulatory macrophages in tissues including THBS1, VEGFA, CD300E, PLAUR, OLR1, SAMSN1, and GOS2. RNA biomarkers also have the
potential to be used to scan transcriptomic data generated from different disease or immune conditions for the likely presence of regulatory macrophages.

Single-cell sequencing led us to identify the most variable genes in our data set between all stimulations including unstimulated, LPS, LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE_2 . We propose that these genes represented mainly the M1 phenotype, because M1 genes should be the most changed in the presence of adenosine and PGE₂ and relative to no stimulation. This was supported by the fact that 18 out of the 30 most variable genes were also present in the top 100 most highly differentially expressed genes by LPS versus unstimulated macrophages found by conventional RNA sequencing. We then demonstrated with conventional RNA sequencing that the majority of the top 25 most highly upregulated genes by LPS stimulation over resting cells were significantly downregulated by combination with adenosine, PGE₂, or both. Many of these genes encode inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. These data imply that while the global transcriptomic changes induced by adenosine and PGE₂ are relatively limited in number, they are highly specific and target some of the most important genes that comprise the LPS inflammatory M1 signature. Overall, the work in this chapter describes two highly similar populations of M-CSF macrophages that are characterized by increased expression of tissue repair genes and decreased expression of cytokine and chemokine genes.

5 Comparison of human GM-CSF derived macrophages to M-CSF derived macrophages both stimulated with LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂

5.1 Introduction

While M-CSF is the growth factor constitutively expressed in a number of tissues that gives rise to macrophages from infiltrating monocytes, there is a second growth factor, GM-CSF, which also leads to differentiated macrophages. GM-CSF is constitutively produced in the lung, but is also induced during inflammatory responses. We wanted to know if macrophages differentiated in GM-CSF are equally as capable of being programmed into "regulatory" macrophages, as are M-CSF macrophages, in response to LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulation. This information would be useful as GM-CSF could potentially be used to modulate the macrophage activation response.

To explore this question we performed RNA-sequencing on donor matched GM-CSF derived macrophages stimulated with LPS, LPS + Adenosine, and LPS + PGE₂ and compared the transcriptomic data to our analysis in the previous chapter for M-CSF derived macrophages. We also did in vitro assays of M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages side by side to further validate the results from our M-CSF RNA-sequencing analysis, and to compare the in vitro phenotypes of GM-CSF and M-CSF macrophages. Before we began, we examined the expression of macrophage marker CD68 (Figure 16A), dendritic cell marker CD1a (Figure 16B) and macrophage marker CD11b (Figure 16C) to confirm that following 7 days of differentiation in M-CSF and GM-CSF, our blood monocyte samples did fully mature into macrophages and not dendritic cells.

5.2 Results



Figure 16. Flow cytometry validation of M-CSF and GM-CSF derived macrophages. Markers for (A) macrophage CD68, (B) dendritic cell CD1a and (C) macrophage CD11b were detected on macrophages differentiated in M-CSF and GM-CSF for 7 days to confirm that our working cells in both differentiation conditions are in fact mature macrophages. Relevant isotype controls are depicted for each antibody.

Adenosine and PGE₂ sensing in human macrophages. It has recently been published that GM-CSF macrophages degrade less ATP in vitro, and produce less adenosine when stimulated, compared to M-CSF macrophages¹⁸⁴. We confirmed these results in our M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages by examining the kinetics of ATP degradation over a period of 2 hours (Figure 17A). This important finding fits in line with our hypothesis that M-CSF macrophages produce more ATP and convert it to adenosine via CD39 and CD73, which can subsequently act in an autocrine fashion to suppress macrophage inflammation²⁶. Similarly, at 24 hours post-LPS stimulation, supernatants from M-CSF macrophages contained higher levels of PGE₂ while the levels of PGE₂ in supernatants from GM-CSF macrophages were unchanged with LPS stimulation (Figure 17B). The expression of a number of purinergic and prostaglandin receptor genes was measured by RT-PCR (Figure 18). M-CSF macrophages stimulated with LPS upregulated the expression of the A2a receptor (Figure 18B), EP2 receptor (Figure 18G) and EP4 receptor (Figure 18H) while GM-CSF macrophages did not upregulate any of these receptors to the same extent, and exhibited lower expression levels for these receptors overall. mRNA expression of the A2b receptor (Figure 18C) did not change with LPS stimulation in either M-CSF or GM-CSF, though its expression was higher in M-CSF macrophages overall. The expression of the A1 and A3 receptors decreased following LPS stimulation in both M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages (Figures 18A and 18D, respectively). These two receptors are coupled to the G_i family of signaling proteins, which typically decrease cAMP release when activated¹⁸⁵. The mRNA expression of the two ecto-enzymes involved in the hydrolysis of ATP, CD39 and CD73, did not change with LPS stimulation and were not significantly different between M-CSF and GM-CSF



Figure 17. ATP degradation and PGE₂ production by human macrophages. (A) The degradation of 20μ M ATP was measured over time and expressed per μ g of protein per sample (n=3 donors, **P*-value < 0.05, ***P*-value < 0.01, error bars represent SEM). (B) PGE₂ was measured in the supernatants of macrophages stimulated with LPS for 24 hours (n=10 donors, **P*-value < 0.05, lines connect samples from the same individual).



Figure 18. mRNA expression of purinergic pathway and PGE2 receptor genes in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. Quantitative RT-PCR was used to measure transcript levels of (A) A1R, (B) A2AR, (C) A2BR, (D) A3R, (E) CD39, (F) CD73, (G) PTGER2, (H) PTGER4, and (I) PTGER3 following stimulation with LPS for 4 hours (n=5 donors, * *P*-value < 0.05, ** *P*-value < 0.01, *** *P*-value < 0.001, **** *P*-value < 0.001, error bars represent SEM).

macrophages (Figures 18E and 18F, respectively. Lastly, the third receptor for PGE₂, PTGER3, did not change at the transcript level following LPS stimulation and was expressed similarly at low levels in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages (Figure 18I). The mRNA level of constitutively expressed COX1 did not change with LPS stimulation, nor was it different in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages (Figure 19A). However, the increase in PGE₂ levels in the supernatants of LPS stimulated M-CSF macrophages correlated with an increase in the expression of COX2 mRNA, which is inducible (Figure 19B). The expression of the prostaglandin synthase gene, MPGES1, seemed to increase slightly in LPS stimulated M-CSF macrophages, but this observation was not found to be significant (Figure 19C). The expression pattern of adenosine and PGE_2 pathway genes in M-CSF macrophages was not exclusive to LPS stimulation. We tested various TLR ligands including, FSL-1 (TLR2/6), HKLM (TLR2), Loxoribine (TLR 7), and Poly I:C (TLR 3). We noticed that A2AR expression was significantly different between M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages (Figure 20A). A2BR expression was not significantly changed (Figure 20B). mRNA expression for PTGER2 (Figure 20C), PTGER4 (Figure 20D), MPGES1 (Figure 20E), COX1 (Figure 20F) and COX2 (Figure 20G) was higher in M-CSF macrophages than in GM-CSF macrophages for most of the TLR ligands with the exception of COX1, which was expected.

Transcriptome comparison of M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. Principal component analysis (PCA) revealed that M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages are notably different, even following stimulation, and they separated along principal component 1 (PC1), which explains approximately 54% of the variance among samples (Figure 21). LPS + Adenosine, LPS + PGE₂ and LPS stimulated samples differed from each other as



Figure 19. mRNA expression of PGE_2 synthesis pathway genes. M-CSF (blue) and GM-CSF (grey) macrophages were stimulated with LPS for 4 hours. (A) COX1, (B) COX2 and (C) MPGES1 mRNA levels were measured by RT-PCR (n=7, *** *P*-value < 0.001, error bars represent SEM).



Figure 20. Purinergic and PGE₂ pathway gene expression following stimulation with various TLR ligands. mRNA expression for (A) A2AR, (B) A2BR, (C) PTGER2, (D) PTGER4, (E) MPGES1, (F) COX1 and (G) COX2 following 4 hours stimulation with FSL-1, HKLM, Loxoribine, and Poly I:C (n=3, * *P*-value < 0.05, error bars represent SEM).



Figure 21. PCA plot of stimulated human macrophage samples. M-CSF (squares) and GM-CSF (circles) macrophages were stimulated with LPS (orange), LPS + Ado (purple) and LPS + PGE₂ (pink) for 4 hours and bulk RNA-seq was performed. Principal component analysis (PCA) indicating variance among samples is visualized above.

Figure generated with Dr. Ashton Trey Belew

seen on principal component 2 (PC2), which describes approximately 14% of the variance between samples. Also on PC2, we observed a larger spread between LPS, LPS + Adenosine, and LPS + PGE₂ samples, indicating greater variance between M-CSF samples than we observed in GM-CSF samples. Volcano plots of all measured transcripts indicated that LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulation of GM-CSF macrophages resulted in only 7 and 126 differentially expressed genes (DEGs), respectively, compared to LPS alone (Figure 22). This is significantly lower than the 256 and 489 DEGs by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂, respectively, relative to LPS alone in M-CSF macrophages. We selected the top 20 differentially expressed genes by M-CSF macrophages stimulated with LPS + PGE_2 (Figure 23A) and LPS + Adenosine (Figure 23B) versus LPS alone, and compared their fold changes with the corresponding stimulation conditions in GM-CSF macrophages. Many of these transcripts were not as highly upregulated in GM-CSF samples. Similarly, none of the most highly downregulated transcripts by LPS + PGE₂ (Figure 23C) and LPS + Adenosine (Figure 23D) versus LPS alone in M-CSF macrophages were as highly downregulated by adenosine and PGE₂ in GM-CSF macrophages. The expression of several genes of interest, based on their involvement in cell growth and tissue remodeling, was measured by RT-PCR in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages in order to supplement RNAsequencing data. These genes, including: THBS1, CD93, AREG, VEGFA, CD300E, CXCL13, MMP10, and RGS2, were all significantly upregulated by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulation compared to LPS alone in M-CSF macrophages (Figure 24). With the single exception of TGFA, an upregulation of these regulatory transcripts was not observed in GM-CSF macrophages (Figure 24). Altogether, we believe that this

69



Figure 22. Volcano plot visualization of DEGs from LPS + Ado and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated macrophages relative to LPS alone. Bulk RNA-seq of M-CSF (top) and GM-CSF (bottom) macrophages stimulated with LPS + PGE₂ (left) and LPS + Ado (right) was analyzed for differential expression of genes relative to LPS alone. Green points represent significantly changed genes (*P*-value < 0.05, $\log_2 FC > 1$). The numbers of significantly upregulated and downregulated genes are indicated in the plot area. Pink points represent genes with a *P*-value < 0.05 and $\log_2 FC < 1$. Yellow points represent genes with a *P*-value > 0.05 and $\log_2 FC < 1$.



Figure 23. Comparison of expression of DEGs by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS alone in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. The 20 most upregulated differentially expressed genes in M-CSF (blue) (A) LPS + PGE₂ and (B) LPS + Ado stimulated macrophages relative to LPS alone are listed on the x-axis. Their corresponding fold changes in GM-CSF (grey) LPS+ PGE₂ and LPS + Adenosine macrophages relative to LPS are plotted (n=5, **P*-value < 0.05, ** *P*-value < 0.01, *** *P*-value < 0.001). The 20 most downregulated differentially expressed genes in M-CSF (C) LPS + PGE₂ and (D) LPS+Adenosine stimulated macrophages relative to LPS alone are listed on the x-axis. Their corresponding fold changes in GM-CSF (matrix) expressed genes in M-CSF (C) LPS + PGE₂ and (D) LPS+Adenosine stimulated macrophages relative to LPS alone are listed on the x-axis. Their corresponding fold changes in GM-CSF LPS + PGE₂ and LPS + Ado macrophages relative to LPS are plotted (n=5, **P*-value < 0.05, ** *P*-value < 0.05, ** P-value < 0.01).



Figure 24. mRNA expression of genes of interest in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. Macrophages were stimulated with LPS, LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ for 4 hours and the expression for genes THBS1, CD93, AREG, VEGFA, CD300E, CXCL13, MMP10, RGS2, and TGFA was measured by RT-PCR (n=5, * *P*-value < 0.05, ** *P*-value < 0.01, *** *P*-value < 0.001, **** *P*-value < 0.0001, error bars represent SEM).

transcriptomic data indicates a defect in adenosine and PGE₂ sensing by GM-CSF macrophages. We hypothesize that this lack of sensing contributes to GM-CSF macrophages being hyper-inflammatory.

Functional assays of human macrophages. Human umbilical vein endothelial (HUVEC) cells cultured in conditioned media for 24 hours from stimulated M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages exhibited tube formation on a Matrigel surface (Figure 25A). HUVEC cells cultured in conditioned media from M-CSF macrophages stimulated with LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ exhibited the highest levels of tube formation based on tube length (Figure 25B) and the number of nodes between tubes (Figure 25C). HUVEC cells cultured in conditioned media from GM-CSF macrophages stimulated with LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ showed no increase in tube formation relative to HUVECs cultured in supernatants of LPS stimulated macrophages. In fact, HUVEC cells cultured in media from stimulated GM-CSF macrophages exhibited defects in tube formation relative to those grown in media from unstimulated GM-CSF macrophages and relative to those grown in media from M-CSF macrophages.

One of the transcripts that emerged from both our bulk RNA-sequencing and single cell RNA-sequencing analysis as being highly differentially expressed in LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated M-CSF macrophages relative to LPS alone was CD300E. CD300E was expressed on the surface of a higher percentage of cells in LPS+ Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulated M-CSF macrophages compared to LPS stimulated M-CSF macrophages (Figure 26A). The level of CD300E expression (median fluorescence intensity) was also increased with LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulation in M-CSF macrophages, but its expression did not increase beyond baseline



Figure 25. HUVEC cell tube formation in the presence of macrophage conditioned media. Human monocytes were cultured in M-CSF or GM-CSF for 7 days then left unstimulated or stimulated with LPS, LPS + Ado and LPS + PGE, for 24 hours at which point supernatants were collected for further studies. (A) HUVEC cell tube formation was observed after 24 hour exposure to supernatants harvested from stimulated M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages from one representative donor (n=3 donors total). Representative images were captured by brightfield microscopy with "find edges" contrast applied in ImageJ in order to be able to see the tubes. (B) Total tube length was measured in pixels manually using ImageJ software on various images of HUVEC cells exposed to supernatants of macrophages from multiple donors (n=3 donors, ** P-value <0.01, **** *P*-value <0.0001 between M-CSF and corresponding GM-CSF samples; # *P*-value <0.05, ## P-value <0.01 for M-CSF samples relative to NS supernatants; error bars represent SEM). (C) The number of nodes, defined as 3 or more tubes originating from one point, was counted manually using ImageJ software on various images of HUVEC cells exposed to supernatants of macrophages from multiple donors (n=3 donors, ** P-value <0.01, **** *P*-value <0.0001 between M-CSF and corresponding GM-CSF samples; # *P*-value <0.05, ## P-value <0.01 for M-CSF samples relative to NS supernatants; error bars represent SEM).



Figure 26. Flow cytometry of CD300E surface expression. Macrophages were untreated or stimulated with LPS, LPS + Ado and LPS + PGE₂ for 24 hours. (A) Dot plots of CD300E expression from 1 representative donor are shown and gates indicate the percentage of cells that are CD300E⁺ and CD300E⁻. (B) Median fluorescence intensity of CD300E levels on stimulated macrophages was calculated (n=5, ** *P*-value < 0.01 versus LPS stimulated samples alone; # *P*-value < 0.05, ## *P*-value < 0.01 between M-CSF and GM-CSF samples, error bars represent SEM).

in stimulated GM-CSF macrophages (Figure 26B). This lead us to conclude that CD300E is a suitable biomarker unique to M-CSF macrophages stimulated with LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂. PLAUR was another one of the transcripts that was highly differentially expressed in our single cell RNA-sequencing analysis. We measured the surface expression of PLAUR by flow cytometry and found that its expression was indeed increased by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ stimulation in M-CSF macrophages (Figure 27). We believe that PLAUR could be used in combination with CD300E as a secondary marker for these regulatory cells; however, it is also expressed in GM-CSF macrophages so it would not be a suitable marker to use on its own. We also looked at the levels of secreted, soluble proteins from M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. Thrombospondin-1 (Figure 28A) and VEGFa (Figure 28B), both growthpromoting proteins, were secreted at higher levels by M-CSF macrophages than by GM-CSF macrophages. The cytokine IL-6 was significantly decreased with adenosine and PGE₂ stimulation in M-CSF macrophages but not in GM-CSF macrophages (Figure 28C). To our surprise, anti-inflammatory IL-10 levels were not increased by adenosine and PGE₂ in M-CSF cells, and were actually decreased by PGE₂, which is contrary to the behavior of mouse macrophages (Figure 28D). However, the levels of IL-10 were significantly higher in M-CSF macrophages than in GM-CSF macrophages. Preliminary data indicated that stimulation of M-CSF macrophages with LPS in combination with a cell permeable cAMP analog specific for protein kinase A (PKA) activation led to increased levels of both THBS1 and VEGF α (Figure 28E). However, stimulation with a cell permeable cAMP analog specific for exchange protein activated by cAMP (Epac) did not affect the levels of these two cytokines.



Figure 27. Flow cytometry of PLAUR surface expression. Macrophages were untreated or stimulated with LPS, LPS + Ado and LPS + PGE_2 for 8 hours. The median fluorescence intensity of PLAUR levels on stimulated macrophages was calculated (n=3, * *P*-value < 0.05, ** *P*-value < 0.01 versus LPS stimulated samples alone, error bars represent SEM).



Figure 28. Growth promoting, anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion by M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. Macrophages were differentiated for 7 days in M-CSF or GM-CSF and then stimulated with LPS, LPS + Adenosine, and LPS + PGE₂ for 24 hours. (A) THBS1, (B) VEGFa, (C) IL-6 and (D) IL-10 levels were measured in the supernatants by ELISA (n=4-7; * *P*-value < 0.05, ** *P*-value < 0.01 relative to LPS stimulation alone; # *P*-value < 0.05, ## *P*-value < 0.01, ### *P*-value < 0.001 between M-CSF and GM-CSF samples; error bars represent SEM; points are color coded by donor). (E) Preliminary data depicting THBS1 and VEGFa levels in macrophages stimulated with LPS coupled to cell permeable Epac selective (8-pCPT-2-O-Me-cAMP-AM) cAMP analog or PKA selective (8-Br-cAMP) cAMP analog (n=2, error bars represent SD).

The levels of inflammatory cytokines TNF (Figure 29A), IL-12p40 (Figure 29B) and GM-CSF (Figure 29C) were higher in supernatants collected from stimulated GM-CSF derived macrophages than in supernatants from M-CSF macrophages. IL-12p40 and GM-CSF levels were unchanged by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS stimulation alone in GM-CSF derived macrophages, indicating a resistance of these macrophages to regulatory stimuli. To further explore the extent of GM-CSF resistance to adenosine and PGE₂, we use IL-12p40 production as a readout in response to increasing concentrations of adenosine and PGE₂ coupled to LPS stimulation (Figure 30). M-CSF macrophages responded with a dose dependent decrease in IL-12p40 production with a significant decrease with just 25 μ M of adenosine and 1 nM of PGE₂, while GM-CSF macrophages did not have a significant decrease in IL-12p40 production in the presence of concentrations as high as 50 μ M adenosine and 50 nM PGE₂.

Kinetics and modulation of cytokine production. We sought to gain insight regarding the kinetics of responses for both M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages in response to LPS stimulation and also to examine the effects of different priming conditions on cytokine production. First we investigated endotoxin tolerance, a mechanism by which innate immune cells limit their inflammation^{186–188}. We demonstrated that LPS priming of M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages both led to the tolerance of a second LPS exposure in terms of TNF production and that there was no difference in tolerance between the two populations of macrophages (Figure 31A). Next, we examined whether GM-CSF priming had any effect on the cytokine production of M-CSF macrophages. Priming M-CSF derived macrophages with GM-CSF led to an increase in TNF (Figure 31B) and IL-12p40 (Figure 31C) production that correlated with the length of priming time. However,



Figure 29. Inflammatory cytokine secretion by M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. Macrophages were differentiated for 7 days in M-CSF or GM-CSF and then stimulated with LPS, LPS + Adenosine, and LPS + PGE₂ for 24 hours. (A) TNF, (B) IL-12p40 and (C) GM-CSF levels were measured in the supernatants by ELISA (n=5-9, * *P*-value < 0.05 relative to LPS stimulation alone; # *P*-value < 0.05, ## *P*-value < 0.01 between M-CSF and GM-CSF samples, error bars represent SEM, points are color coded by donor).



Figure 30. Modulation of macrophage IL-12p40 secretion by increasing concentrations of adenosine and PGE₂. M-CSF (blue) and GM-CSF (black) macrophages were stimulated with LPS coupled with various concentrations of adenosine and PGE₂, indicated on the x-axis, for 24 hours and IL-12p40 levels were measured in the supernatants by ELISA (n=5 M-CSF, n=4 GM-CSF, **P*-value < 0.05, *** *P*-value < 0.001, **** *P*-value < 0.001, error bars represent SEM).



Figure 31. Priming in M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. (A) M-CSF (blue) and GM-CSF (grey) macrophages were unprimed or primed for 24 hours with LPS followed by a wash and subsequent LPS stimulation for an additional 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and assayed for TNF levels by ELISA (n=3, * *P*-value < 0.05, error bars represent SEM). Macrophages were grown for 7 days in M-CSF and then unprimed (black) or primed with GM-CSF for different lengths of time as indicated on the x-axis (purple) or grown in GM-CSF alone for 7 days (grey). Following a wash, macrophages were stimulated with LPS for 24 hours and supernatants were collected to assay for (**B**) TNF, (**C**) IL-12p40 and (**D**) IL-10 by ELISA (n=3, * *P*-value < 0.05, ** *P*-value < 0.01, **** *P*-value < 0.0001 relative to M-CSF LPS stimulation alone, error bars represent SEM).

the levels of TNF and IL-12p40 in GM-CSF primed macrophages were not as high as in macrophages that were derived in GM-CSF alone for 7 days. IL-10 production by M-CSF macrophages was not affected by various lengths of GM-CSF priming time (Figure 31D). Altogether, this data indicates that although GM-CSF is able to alter the M-CSF macrophage response, it is most effective at macrophage polarization when present as a growth factor during the monocyte to macrophage differentiation process. We next observed that TNF production was sustained longer in LPS stimulated GM-CSF macrophages compared to M-CSF macrophages following removal of the LPS stimulus (Figure 32A). Additionally, the accumulated levels of TNF (Figure 32B) and IL-12p40 (Figure 32C) were higher over the collected timepoints in LPS stimulated GM-CSF macrophages compared with M-CSF macrophages. In order to examine the role of endogenously produced adenosine and PGE_2 during inflammatory contexts, we made use of pharmacological inhibitors of adenosine and PGE₂ receptors. Preliminary data suggested that simultaneous pharmacological blockade of the A2A receptor, EP2 receptor and EP4 receptor appeared to prevent the upregulation of transcript levels of three growth promoting and candidate marker genes for regulatory macrophages, CD300E (Figure 33A), VEGFA (Figure 33B) and THBS1 (Figure 33C) at later (12 hour) but not earlier (4 hour) time points. Pharmacological blockade of the even the EP4 receptor alone led to a significant increase in inflammatory TNF levels in LPS stimulated M-CSF macrophage supernatants after 24 hours (Figure 33D). Conversely, the EP4 antagonist had virtually no effect on LPS stimulated GM-CSF macrophages. This suggests that M-CSF macrophages are sensitive to endogenously produced PGE₂ in their environment, but GM-CSF macrophages are not.



Figure 32. Kinetics of inflammatory TNF and IL-12p40 cytokine secretion by M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. (A) Human macrophages were stimulated for 2 hours with LPS and supernatants were collected and assayed for TNF levels by ELISA. Macrophages were washed and media was replaced at each timepoint following supernatant collection (n=7, ** *P*-value < 0.01, **** *P*-value < 0.0001, error bars represent SEM). The accumulation of (B) TNF and (C) IL-12p40 was measured by ELISA over a period of 24 hours (n=7, * *P*-value < 0.05, ** *P*-value < 0.01, **** *P*-value < 0.0001, error bars represent SEM).



Figure 33. Pharmacological inhibition of adenosine and PGE₂ receptors. M-CSF macrophages were stimulated with LPS, and LPS + a cocktail of small molecule antagonists (against A2a, A2b, EP2, and EP4 receptors) for 4 and 12 hours. (A) CD300E, (B) VEGFA and (C) THBS1 mRNA was measured (n=4, error bars represent SEM). (D) M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages were stimulated with LPS and LPS + ONO AE3 208 5nm (an EP4 receptor antagonist) for 24 hours and TNF levels in the supernatants were measured by ELISA (n=7, * *P*-value < 0.05 relative to LPS stimulation alone; #### *P*-value < 0.0001 between M-CSF and GM-CSF samples, error bars represent SEM).

5.3 Discussion

In this chapter, we elaborated on the findings pertaining to the human M-CSF macrophages described in chapter 4. We also made side-by-side comparisons of M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages in order to explore whether these two growth factors lead to macrophages that adopt similar phenotypes upon stimulation. It is common to use either M-CSF or GM-CSF to generate monocyte-derived macrophages for further study. However, the combination of GM-CSF with IL-4 is used to obtain monocyte derived dendritic cells¹⁸⁹, which may lead to questioning of whether our differentiation protocol resulted in mature macrophage populations. The expression of CD68 and CD11b on both M-CSF and GM-CSF derived cells and the lack of expression of CD1a led us to believe that our working cells were in fact macrophages. This is in line with results from other labs^{190,191}.

We demonstrated that M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages differed with respect to the purinergic and prostaglandin E2 pathways. We hypothesized that M-CSF macrophages may produce more ATP upon TLR stimulation than GM-CSF macrophages, but ATP secretion is difficult to measure due to its rapid conversion to adenosine by enzymes on the macrophage surface. Therefore, we measured the degradation of high concentrations of exogenously added ATP by M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages to find that M-CSF macrophages degraded higher levels of ATP over the chosen timepoints. This supported similar results found by another group who demonstrated that M-CSF macrophages degraded more ATP than GM-CSF macrophages in 30 minutes regardless of stimulation condition¹⁸⁴. Increased ATP degradation suggests that there is more endogenous, immunosuppressive adenosine available adjacent to the macrophage surface to signal through the adenosine receptors to promote a transition to a regulatory phenotype. We also demonstrated that LPS stimulated M-CSF macrophages secrete more PGE₂, which we believe can act in an autocrine fashion in order to promote the transition to a regulatory phenotype in M-CSF but to a lesser extent in GM-CSF macrophages. This was further supported by mRNA expression of COX2, which was significantly induced in LPS stimulated M-CSF macrophages but not in GM-CSF macrophages. Not only were these molecules produced at lower levels in GM-CSF macrophages, but the receptors for sensing them, A2a receptor, A2b receptor, EP2 receptor and EP4 receptor, were also transcribed at significantly lower levels following TLR stimulation by LPS and various other TLR ligands. Notably, these 4 receptors mediate the immunosuppressive effects of adenosine and PGE₂^{56,192,193}. This also suggests that the differential regulation of the purinergic and PGE₂ pathway genes by M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages is consistent in different contexts of pathogenic infection.

Transcriptomic data allowed us to compare global genetic changes between stimulated M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages. The PCA analysis alone indicated to us that M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages are transcriptionally different even under similar stimulation conditions. Stimulation with LPS, LPS + Adenosine, and LPS + PGE₂ exhibited more variance among samples in M-CSF than in GM-CSF macrophages suggesting that GM-CSF macrophages are less susceptible to phenotypic modulation by adenosine and PGE₂. This was further supported by the number of DEGs by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS alone, which was significantly higher in M-CSF macrophages than GM-CSF macrophages. Many of the upregulated and downregulated genes by LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE₂ relative to LPS alone in M-CSF macrophages were not up- or downregulated to the same extent in GM-CSF macrophages subject to the same conditions. Many of these upregulated genes had growth promoting functions, demonstrating that GM-CSF macrophages are not easily programmed to promote tissue repair. This was highlighted by the fact that M-CSF macrophages stimulated with adenosine and PGE₂ secreted factors that promoted tube formation by HUVEC cells, while stimulated GM-CSF macrophages secreted factors the inhibited tube formation. Tube formation has been proposed to be a reliable in vitro assay for angiogenesis as it involves adhesion, migration and tubule formation all in one experiment¹⁹⁴.

Surface proteins CD300E and PLAUR were found to have increased expression on adenosine and PGE₂ stimulated macrophages. CD300E in particular was not expressed above baseline on GM-CSF macrophages, making it a more suitable biomarker for M-CSF regulatory macrophages. Secreted proteins THBS1 and VEGFα were also higher in adenosine and PGE₂ stimulated M-CSF macrophages, suggesting that they could also be used as biomarkers for M-CSF regulatory macrophages. Both of these proteins are well known contributors to the wound healing process^{195,168}. On the other hand, levels of inflammatory cytokines, TNF, IL-12p40 and GM-CSF were secreted at higher levels in LPS stimulated GM-CSF macrophages, and the addition of adenosine and PGE₂ did not dampen their secretion. This implies that GM-CSF macrophages are programmed to resist phenotypic change in response to resolving molecules in the inflammatory milieu in order to maintain higher levels of activation. Because macrophages are highly plastic in nature, we wanted to know if adding GM-CSF to M- CSF differentiated macrophages could skew their phenotype. This had previously been shown to be true by another group who demonstrated that the M-CSF and GM-CSF differentiation of macrophages was not end stage, and that a subsequent period of 6 days in the opposite growth factor could reverse original phenotypes¹⁹⁶. We demonstrated that this was the case for the secretion of inflammatory cytokines TNF and IL-12p40, and the extent of skewing correlated with the length of GM-CSF priming time. However, GM-CSF priming did not negatively affect the levels of IL-10 secretion. Additionally, GM-CSF priming did not restore TNF and IL-12p40 levels to the levels seen in GM-CSF differentiated macrophages. Therefore, it appears that exposure longer than 24 hours to GM-CSF is most effective in programming macrophages to reach a more inflammatory potential.

While total amounts of inflammatory cytokine secretion contribute to immunopathology, the duration of cytokine secretion also has an important role in immune responses. GM-CSF macrophages secreted TNF at higher levels than M-CSF macrophages for up to 18 hours following the removal of stimulus. GM-CSF macrophages also had significantly higher steady state levels of TNF and IL-12p40 in their supernatants at different time points up to 24 hours. Together these data suggest that M-CSF macrophages terminate their activation more effectively and faster than their GM-CSF counterparts and transition to a resolving phenotype. The expression of marker gene candidates CD300E, VEGFA and THBS1 were measured at early (4 hour) and later (12 hour) time points following LPS stimulation in the presence of pharmacological inhibitors of the A2ar, EP2 and EP4 receptors. This preliminary data suggested to us that pharmacological blockade of these receptors may prevent the upregulation of these

transcripts at later time points, but may not have an effect on the upregulation of these transcripts at early time points. We hypothesize that this may be due to the fact that the ligands for these receptors need some time to be produced endogenously in order for them to act in an autocrine manner. The pharmacological blockade of the EP4 receptor alone led to more than double an increase in TNF production by M-CSF macrophages in response to LPS, suggesting that under normal conditions, endogenous PGE₂ helps to limit inflammatory TNF. The pharmacological blockade of the EP4 receptor had no effect on the high levels of TNF produced by GM-CSF macrophages, which is not surprising, due to the presumed lack of EP4 receptor expression by GM-CSF macrophages based on mRNA data.

Overall, the data in this chapter combined with the data in chapter 4 led us to propose a model for both the regulation of M-CSF macrophage activation and the lack of regulation in GM-CSF macrophages (Figure 34). We hypothesize that M-CSF macrophages are better equipped to turn off inflammation and initiate a program of tissue repair due to the production and increased sensitivity to the resolving molecules, adenosine and PGE₂. We demonstrate that a number of components proposed in our model were lacking or present at lower levels in GM-CSF macrophages, which we believe helps to explain why GM-CSF macrophages are known to be hyperinflammatory. In M-CSF but not GM-CSF macrophages, the expression of A2ar, A2br, EP2 and EP4 receptors is upregulated following TLR stimulation, making them more ready to sense adenosine and PGE₂ in their environment. The degradation of ATP and production of PGE₂ by GM-CSF macrophages is also lower than in M-CSF macrophages. We propose that together these differences in the purinergic and PGE₂ pathways, between



Figure 34. Proposed pathway for endogenous regulation of M-CSF macrophage activation and lack of regulation of GM-CSF macrophages. TLR activation by PAMPs leads to the transcription and production of inflammatory mediators including the cytokines and chemokines. However, TLR activation also leads to the production of ATP which is degraded to adenosine. Adenosine signals through A2aR and A2bR to inhibit inflammation and initiate production of growth promoting proteins. Similarly, TLR activation leads to the production of PGE₂,via COX and MPGES proteins, which then signals through EP2 and EP4 receptors to inhibit inflammation and initiate production of growth promoting proteins. We propose that these two molecules contribute to the resolution and control of M-CSF macrophage activation in response to pathogens. Components marked with a red (X) are those that are inhibited in macrophages differentiated in GM-CSF. Therefore, we propose that GM-CSF macrophages are unable to respond to adenosine and PGE2 in order to limit their activation or contribute to tissue homeostasis.

M-CSF and GM-CSF macrophages, are contributing factors to the propensity of these cells to either perpetuate inflammation or promote tissue repair.

<u>6 Conclusions and Future Directions</u>

Macrophages are highly responsive to their tissue environments. In this research, we explore the effects of a number of different stimuli that macrophages may encounter in the host under different contexts. We demonstrate that Type I and Type II IFNs modulate the expression of adenosine receptors in mouse macrophages. We have also characterized a population of human M-CSF macrophages with growth promoting and pro-angiogenic activity that we believe arises following the termination of every immune response as a mechanism to restore tissue homeostasis. We demonstrate that GM-CSF human macrophages exhibit prolonged inflammatory responses because they are defective in this transition. These observations have several potential implications for influencing immunity and inflammatory responses. First, they predict that IFN inflammatory responses are partially regulated in macrophages by the purinergic system. Second, they suggest that M-CSF macrophages are poised to promote tissue repair and that a lack of this growth factor has the potential to lead to chronic inflammatory conditions. Third, they suggest that GM-CSF may prolong immunity and delay immune resolution not only by increasing inflammation but also by delaying its resolution and preventing the upregulation of genes critical for tissue repair. The failure of GM-CSF macrophages to transition to a growth-promoting phenotype could explain the mechanism of action of this protein in disease. Tissue GM-CSF levels are elevated in numerous autoimmune/inflammatory conditions including multiple sclerosis¹⁹⁷, rheumatoid arthritis¹⁹⁸, systemic inflammation¹¹², and allergic responses¹¹³. A multitude of clinical trials for monoclonal antibodies to GM-CSF have been undertaken in the context of these diseases^{102,199}.

Exploring macrophage activation on a spectrum by examining responses to molecules aside from the usual M1 and M2 stimuli, furthers our understanding of macrophage function in numerous physiological and disease environments. For example, our results are relevant in the context of certain cancers, as adenosine and PGE₂ are present at high levels in the tumor microenvironment, known to harbor numerous tumor associated macrophages^{47,57,200–202}. Because macrophages are highly sensitive to small changes in their surroundings, it is important to continue to investigate macrophage responses to a wide range and combination of stimuli.

The findings presented in this work illuminate the similarity of the macrophage response to adenosine and PGE_2 during inflammation. We believe that this could be attributed to the signaling of these molecules through g-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) and downstream cAMP production. It is possible that this macrophage phenotype extends to stimulation with numerous other GPCR ligands, which should be further explored. GPCRs make up the largest class of receptors for approved membrane drug targets²⁰³. Therefore, it is possible that there are existing drugs that can be used in contexts that we have not yet discovered.

Much of the research on human monocyte-derived macrophages is highly variable as different labs have multitudes of protocols for generating macrophages from monocytes. This work shows that using GM-CSF alone as a differentiation factor can skew or bias the resulting macrophages to be inflammatory and resistant to the transition to a growth promoting phenotype. We propose that M-CSF is the growth factor most "neutral" to generate human macrophages.
Our observation that stimulated GM-CSF macrophages are resistant to the antiinflammatory effects of adenosine and PGE₂ illuminates the potential use of GM-CSF in contexts in which it would be beneficial for macrophages to be hyper-inflammatory. One example would be the use of GM-CSF as a vaccine adjuvant. There are recent clinical trials testing GM-CSF as an adjuvant in cancer vaccines due to its anti-tumor properties^{204,205}. GM-CSF could also potentially be used in parasitic diseases such as leishmaniasis in which cell mediated immune responses are needed for pathogen killing¹³⁰. In fact, topical application of GM-CSF to lesions has been demonstrated to reduce the healing time in cutaneous leishmaniasis patients, due to increased parasite killing²⁰⁶.

We identified promising protein biomarkers for regulatory macrophages including, THBS1, VEGFA, CD300E and PLAUR which could potentially be used in combination with cell specific markers such as CD68 and CD11b to identify growth promoting macrophages in histological samples or in vivo. Exploring where these macrophages are located in the host can help us better understand their functional roles and allow us to target them in different diseases. Along with this, another potential use for these biomarkers is during therapeutic testing in order to determine if certain drugs are effective in producing the intended phenotype in macrophages.

This work raises new questions that would benefit from further research. Pathway analysis led to the prediction of many transcriptional regulators of the genes modulated by regulatory macrophages. It would be beneficial to identify specific transcriptional regulators using pharmacological tools or protein interaction studies. This way, regulatory macrophage phenotypes could be mimicked with the modulation of a few key proteins. Additionally, further exploration of the mechanism of M-CSF and GM-CSF control of the purinergic and PGE_2 pathways is needed, including how the expression of the receptors for these molecules is regulated. We highlighted the pro-angiogenic nature of LPS + Adenosine and LPS + PGE_2 macrophages, which has implications for macrophage actions in the tumor microenvironment as well as in wound healing or tissue repair. It would be interesting to compare the transcriptomic data generated in this work with transcriptomic data generated by other researchers on macrophages in known disease environments. This could help us to determine whether regulatory macrophages are participating in specific disease situations. Additionally, it would be useful to compare the transcriptomic data in this research to datasets from primary human tissue-resident macrophages, such as alveolar macrophages from the lung in order to explore the similarity of the macrophages we studied, to those in different tissues. Ultimately, the hope is that any of the molecular pathways discussed in this work could be targeted to ameliorate different disease pathologies.

References

- 1. Epelman S, Lavine KJ, Randolph GJ. Origin and functions of tissue macrophages. *Immunity*. 2014;41(1):21-35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.013.
- 2. Goldszmid RS, Dzutsev A, Trinchieri G. Host Immune Response to Infection and Cancer: Unexpected Commonalities. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2014;15(3):295-305. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2014.02.003.
- 3. Serbina N V, Pamer EG. Monocyte emigration from bone marrow during bacterial infection requires signals mediated by chemokine receptor CCR2. *Nat Immunol.* 2006;7(3):311-317. doi:10.1038/ni1309.
- 4. Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2008;8(12):958-969. doi:10.1038/nri2448.
- 5. Fleming BD, Chandrasekaran P, Dillon LAL, et al. The generation of macrophages with anti-inflammatory activity in the absence of STAT6 signaling. *J Leukoc Biol* . 2015;98 (3):395-407. doi:10.1189/jlb.2A1114-560R.
- 6. Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Rep.* 2014;6:13. doi:10.12703/P6-13.
- 7. Cohen HB, Ward A, Hamidzadeh K, Ravid K, Mosser DM. IFN-gamma Prevents Adenosine Receptor (A2bR) Upregulation To Sustain the Macrophage Activation Response. *J Immunol*. September 2015. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1501139.
- Kaplan MH, Schindler U, Smiley ST, Grusby MJ. Stat6 Is Required for Mediating Responses to IL-4 and for the Development of Th2 Cells. *Immunity*. 1996;4(3):313-319. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80439-2.
- 9. Gogoi M, Datey A, Wilson KT, Chakravortty D. Dual role of arginine metabolism in establishing pathogenesis. *Curr Opin Microbiol*. 2016;29:43-48. doi:10.1016/j.mib.2015.10.005.
- Sutterwala FS, Noel GJ, Clynes R, Mosser DM. Selective Suppression of Interleukin-12 Induction after Macrophage Receptor Ligation. *J Exp Med.* 1997;185(11):1977-1985.
- 11. Sutterwala FS, Noel GJ, Salgame P, Mosser DM. Reversal of proinflammatory responses by ligating the macrophage Fcgamma receptor type I. *J Exp Med.* 1998;188(1):217-222.
- 12. Edwards JP, Zhang X, Frauwirth KA, Mosser DM. Biochemical and functional characterization of three activated macrophage populations. *J Leukoc Biol* . 2006;80 (6):1298-1307. doi:10.1189/jlb.0406249.
- 13. Medzhitov R, Preston-Hurlburt P, Janeway CAJ. A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. *Nature*. 1997;388(6640):394-397. doi:10.1038/41131.
- Matsushima N, Tanaka T, Enkhbayar P, et al. Comparative sequence analysis of leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) within vertebrate toll-like receptors. *BMC Genomics*. 2007;8:124. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-8-124.
- 15. Takeda K, Akira S. Toll-like receptors in innate immunity. *Int Immunol.* 2005;17(1):1-14. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh186.
- 16. O'Neill LAJ, Bowie AG. The family of five: TIR-domain-containing adaptors in Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2007;7(5):353-364. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nri2079.

- 17. Kawagoe T, Sato S, Matsushita K, et al. Sequential control of Toll-like receptor– dependent responses by IRAK1 and IRAK2. *Nat Immunol.* 2008;9(6):684-691. doi:10.1038/ni.1606.
- Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. *Nat Immunol.* 2010;11(5):373-384. doi:10.1038/ni.1863.
- 19. Raetz CRH, Whitfield C. Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 2002;71:635-700. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.71.110601.135414.
- 20. Cohen J. The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. *Nature*. 2002;420(6917):885-891. doi:10.1038/nature01326.
- Park BS, Song DH, Kim HM, Choi B-S, Lee H, Lee J-O. The structural basis of lipopolysaccharide recognition by the TLR4–MD-2 complex. *Nature*. 2009;458(7242):1191-1195. doi:10.1038/nature07830.
- 22. Kim HM, Park BS, Kim J-I, et al. Crystal Structure of the TLR4-MD-2 Complex with Bound Endotoxin Antagonist Eritoran. *Cell*. 2007;130(5):906-917. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.002.
- 23. Hailman E, Lichenstein HS, Wurfel MM, et al. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-binding protein accelerates the binding of LPS to CD14. *J Exp Med*. 1994;179(1):269-277. doi:10.1084/jem.179.1.269.
- 24. Miyake K. Roles for accessory molecules in microbial recognition by Toll-like receptors. *J Endotoxin Res.* 2006;12(4):195-204. doi:10.1179/096805106X118807.
- 25. Zanoni I, Ostuni R, Marek LR, et al. CD14 controls the LPS-induced endocytosis of Toll-like receptor 4. *Cell*. 2011;147(4):868-880. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.09.051.
- 26. Cohen HB, Briggs KT, Marino JP, Ravid K, Robson SC, Mosser DM. TLR stimulation initiates a CD39-based autoregulatory mechanism that limits macrophage inflammatory responses. *Blood*. 2013;122(11):1935-1945. http://www.bloodjournal.org/content/122/11/1935.abstract.
- Kaczmarek E, Koziak K, Sévigny J, et al. Identification and Characterization of CD39/Vascular ATP Diphosphohydrolase. *J Biol Chem*. 1996;271 (51):33116-33122. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.51.33116.
- 28. Zimmermann H, Braun N. Ecto-nucleotidases--molecular structures, catalytic properties, and functional roles in the nervous system. *Prog Brain Res.* 1999;120:371-385.
- 29. Haskó G, Cronstein B. Regulation of Inflammation by Adenosine. *Front Immunol.* 2013;4:85. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00085.
- 30. Fredholm BB, Arslan G, Halldner L, Kull B, Schulte G, Wasserman W. Structure and function of adenosine receptors and their genes. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*. 2000;362(4-5):364-374.
- 31. Olah ME. Identification of A2a adenosine receptor domains involved in selective coupling to Gs. Analysis of chimeric A1/A2a adenosine receptors. *J Biol Chem*. 1997;272(1):337-344.
- 32. Pierce KD, Furlong TJ, Selbie LA, Shine J. Molecular cloning and expression of an adenosine A2b receptor from human brain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1992;187(1):86-93.
- 33. Xue J, Schmidt S V, Sander J, et al. Transcriptome-based network analysis reveals a spectrum model of human macrophage activation. *Immunity*. 2014;40(2):274-

288.

- Kreckler LM, Gizewski E, Wan TC, Auchampach JA. Adenosine suppresses lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor-alpha production by murine macrophages through a protein kinase A- and exchange protein activated by cAMP-independent signaling pathway. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 2009;331(3):1051-1061. doi:10.1124/jpet.109.157651.
- 35. Wall EA, Zavzavadjian JR, Chang MS, et al. Suppression of LPS-induced TNFalpha production in macrophages by cAMP is mediated by PKA-AKAP95-p105. *Sci Signal*. 2009;2(75):ra28. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2000202.
- Sun Y, Duan Y, Eisenstein AS, et al. A novel mechanism of control of NFκB activation and inflammation involving A2B adenosine receptors. *J Cell Sci.* 2012;125(19):4507-4517.
- 37. Fredholm BB, Cunha RA, Svenningsson P. Pharmacology of adenosine A2A receptors and therapeutic applications. *Curr Top Med Chem.* 2003;3(4):413-426.
- Aherne CM, Kewley EM, Eltzschig HK. The resurgence of A2B adenosine receptor signaling. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*. 2011;1808(5):1329-1339.
- 39. Yasuda N, Inoue T, Horizoe T, et al. Functional characterization of the adenosine receptor contributing to glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis in rat hepatocytes. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2003;459(2-3):159-166.
- 40. Gonzalez-Benitez E, Guinzberg R, Diaz-Cruz A, Pina E. Regulation of glycogen metabolism in hepatocytes through adenosine receptors. Role of Ca2+ and cAMP. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2002;437(3):105-111.
- 41. Johnston-Cox H, Koupenova M, Yang D, et al. The A2b adenosine receptor modulates glucose homeostasis and obesity. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(7):e40584. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040584.
- 42. Chhabra P, Linden J, Lobo P, Okusa MD, Brayman KL. The immunosuppressive role of adenosine A2A receptors in ischemia reperfusion injury and islet transplantation. *Curr Diabetes Rev.* 2012;8(6):419-433.
- 43. Reiss AB, Rahman MM, Chan ESL, Montesinos MC, Awadallah NW, Cronstein BN. Adenosine A2A receptor occupancy stimulates expression of proteins involved in reverse cholesterol transport and inhibits foam cell formation in macrophages. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2004;76(3):727-734. doi:10.1189/jlb.0204107.
- Gessi S, Fogli E, Sacchetto V, et al. Adenosine modulates HIF-1 {alpha}, VEGF, IL-8, and foam cell formation in a human model of hypoxic foam cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2010;30(1):90-97. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.194902.
- 45. Wang H, Zhang W, Zhu C, et al. Inactivation of the adenosine A2A receptor protects apolipoprotein E-deficient mice from atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2009;29(7):1046-1052. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.188839.
- 46. Montesinos MC, Desai-Merchant A, Cronstein BN. Promotion of Wound Healing by an Agonist of Adenosine A Receptor Is Dependent on Tissue Plasminogen Activator. *Inflammation*. May 2015. doi:10.1007/s10753-015-0184-3.
- 47. Harris SG, Padilla J, Koumas L, Ray D, Phipps RP. Prostaglandins as modulators of immunity. *Trends Immunol*. 2002;23(3):144-150. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02154-8.

- 48. Dubois RN, Abramson SB, Crofford L, et al. Cyclooxygenase in biology and disease. *FASEB J*. 1998;12 (12):1063-1073. http://www.fasebj.org/content/12/12/1063.abstract.
- 49. Park JY, Pillinger MH, Abramson SB. Prostaglandin E2 synthesis and secretion: the role of PGE2 synthases. *Clin Immunol*. 2006;119(3):229-240. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2006.01.016.
- 50. Tai H-H, Cho H, Ding MT and Y. NAD+-Linked 15-Hydroxyprostaglandin Dehydrogenase: Structure and Biological Functions. *Curr Pharm Des*. 2006;12(8):955-962. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/138161206776055958.
- 51. Sugimoto Y, Narumiya S. Prostaglandin E Receptors. *J Biol Chem* . 2007;282 (16):11613-11617. doi:10.1074/jbc.R600038200.
- 52. Kuroda E, Yamashita U. Mechanisms of Enhanced Macrophage-Mediated Prostaglandin E2 Production and Its Suppressive Role in Th1 Activation in Th2-Dominant BALB/c Mice. *J Immunol* . 2003;170 (2):757-764. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.2.757.
- 53. Prostaglandin-E2 is a potent inhibitor of human interleukin 12 production. *J Exp Med.* 1995;181(2):775-779. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2191857/.
- 54. Kunkel SL, Spengler M, May MA, Spengler R, Larrick J, Remick D. Prostaglandin E2 regulates macrophage-derived tumor necrosis factor gene expression. *J Biol Chem*. 1988;263 (11):5380-5384. http://www.jbc.org/content/263/11/5380.abstract.
- 55. MacKenzie KF, Clark K, Naqvi S, et al. PGE2 Induces Macrophage IL-10 Production and a Regulatory-like Phenotype via a Protein Kinase A–SIK–CRTC3 Pathway. *J Immunol* . 2013;190 (2):565-577. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202462.
- 56. Sokolowska M, Chen L-Y, Liu Y, et al. Prostaglandin E2 Inhibits NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation through EP4 Receptor and Intracellular Cyclic AMP in Human Macrophages. *J Immunol* . 2015;194 (11):5472-5487. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1401343.
- 57. Liu L, Ge D, Ma L, et al. Interleulin-17 and Prostaglandin E2 Are Involved in Formation of an M2 Macrophage-dominant Microenvironment in Lung Cancer. *J Thorac Oncol.* 2012;7(7):1091-1100. doi:10.1097/JTO.0b013e3182542752.
- 58. Fleming BD, Mosser DM. Regulatory macrophages: setting the threshold for therapy. *Eur J Immunol*. 2011;41(9):2498-2502. doi:10.1002/eji.201141717.
- 59. Agard M, Asakrah S, Morici LA. PGE(2) suppression of innate immunity during mucosal bacterial infection. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*. 2013;3:45. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2013.00045.
- 60. Kalinski P. Regulation of Immune Responses by Prostaglandin E(2). *J Immunol*. 2012;188(1):21-28. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101029.
- 61. Nakanishi M, Rosenberg DW. Multifaceted roles of PGE(2) in inflammation and cancer(). *Semin Immunopathol*. 2013;35(2):123-137. doi:10.1007/s00281-012-0342-8.
- 62. Birrell MA, Maher SA, Dekkak B, et al. Anti-inflammatory effects of PGE(2) in the lung: role of the EP(4) receptor subtype. *Thorax*. 2015;70(8):740-747. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-206592.
- 63. Nakatsuji M, Minami M, Seno H, et al. EP4 Receptor–Associated Protein in

Macrophages Ameliorates Colitis and Colitis-Associated Tumorigenesis. Beier DR, ed. *PLoS Genet*. 2015;11(10):e1005542. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1005542.

- 64. Harizi H, Juzan M, Grosset C, Rashedi M, Gualde N. Dendritic cells issued in vitro from bone marrow produce PGE(2) that contributes to the immunomodulation induced by antigen-presenting cells. *Cell Immunol.* 2001;209(1):19-28. doi:10.1006/cimm.2001.1785.
- 65. Aronoff DM, Canetti C, Peters-Golden M. Prostaglandin E2 Inhibits Alveolar Macrophage Phagocytosis through an E-Prostanoid 2 Receptor-Mediated Increase in Intracellular Cyclic AMP. *J Immunol* . 2004;173 (1):559-565. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.1.559.
- 66. Serezani CH, Chung J, Ballinger MN, Moore BB, Aronoff DM, Peters-Golden M. Prostaglandin E(2) Suppresses Bacterial Killing in Alveolar Macrophages by Inhibiting NADPH Oxidase. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*. 2007;37(5):562-570. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2007-0153OC.
- 67. Uchiya K, Nikai T. Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium Infection Induces Cyclooxygenase 2 Expression in Macrophages: Involvement of Salmonella Pathogenicity Island 2 . *Infect Immun*. 2004;72(12):6860-6869. doi:10.1128/IAI.72.12.6860-6869.2004.
- 68. Saha A, Biswas A, Srivastav S, Mukherjee M, Das PK, Ukil A. Prostaglandin E2 Negatively Regulates the Production of Inflammatory Cytokines/Chemokines and IL-17 in Visceral Leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* . 2014;193 (5):2330-2339. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400399.
- Na YR, Yoon YN, Son D, Jung D, Gu GJ, Seok SH. Consistent Inhibition of Cyclooxygenase Drives Macrophages towards the Inflammatory Phenotype. Marson L, ed. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(2):e0118203. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118203.
- 70. Scher JU, Pillinger MH. The Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Prostaglandins. *J Investig Med.* 2015;57(6):703-708. http://jim.bmj.com/content/57/6/703.abstract.
- Matsumoto H, Naraba H, Murakami M, et al. Concordant induction of prostaglandin E2 synthase with cyclooxygenase-2 leads to preferred production of prostaglandin E2 over thromboxane and prostaglandin D2 in lipopolysaccharidestimulated rat peritoneal macrophages. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1997;230(1):110-114. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1996.5894.
- 72. Alexander C, Rietschel ET. Invited review: Bacterial lipopolysaccharides and innate immunity. *J Endotoxin Res* . 2001;7 (3):167-202. doi:10.1177/09680519010070030101.
- Boehm U, Klamp T, Groot M, Howard JC. CELLULAR RESPONSES TO INTERFERON-γ. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15(1):749-795. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.15.1.749.
- 74. Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT. Regulation of type I interferon responses. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2014;14(1):36-49. doi:10.1038/nri3581.
- 75. Li X, Leung S, Qureshi S, Darnell JEJ, Stark GR. Formation of STAT1-STAT2 heterodimers and their role in the activation of IRF-1 gene transcription by interferon-alpha. *J Biol Chem.* 1996;271(10):5790-5794. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.10.5790.
- 76. Trinchieri G. Type I interferon: friend or foe? J Exp Med. 2010;207(10):2053-

2063. doi:10.1084/jem.20101664.

- Karaghiosoff M, Steinborn R, Kovarik P, et al. Central role for type I interferons and Tyk2 in lipopolysaccharide-induced endotoxin shock. *Nat Immunol*. 2003;4(5):471-477. doi:10.1038/ni910.
- 78. Ronnblom L, Alm G V, Eloranta M-L. Type I interferon and lupus. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2009;21(5):471-477. doi:10.1097/BOR.0b013e32832e089e.
- 79. Noseworthy JH, Lucchinetti C, Rodriguez M, Weinshenker BG. Multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* 2000;343(13):938-952. doi:10.1056/NEJM200009283431307.
- 80. Young HA, Bream JH. IFN-gamma: recent advances in understanding regulation of expression, biological functions, and clinical applications. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*. 2007;316:97-117. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-71329-6_6.
- Kano S, Sato K, Morishita Y, et al. The contribution of transcription factor IRF1 to the interferon-γ-interleukin 12 signaling axis and TH1 versus TH-17 differentiation of CD4+ T cells. *Nat Immunol*. 2008;9(1):34-41. doi:10.1038/ni1538.
- 82. Nathan CF, Murray HW, Wiebe ME, Rubin BY. Identification of interferongamma as the lymphokine that activates human macrophage oxidative metabolism and antimicrobial activity. *J Exp Med*. 1983;158(3):670-689. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6411853.
- Lowenstein CJ, Alley EW, Raval P, et al. Macrophage nitric oxide synthase gene: two upstream regions mediate induction by interferon gamma and lipopolysaccharide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1993;90(20):9730 LP - 9734. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.20.9730.
- 84. Nathan CF, Prendergast TJ, Wiebe ME, et al. Activation of human macrophages. Comparison of other cytokines with interferon-gamma. *J Exp Med*. 1984;160(2):600-605. doi:10.1084/jem.160.2.600.
- Marciano BE, Wesley R, De Carlo ES, et al. Long-Term Interferon-γ Therapy for Patients with Chronic Granulomatous Disease. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2004;39(5):692-699. doi:10.1086/422993.
- Bergeron M, Olivier M. Trypanosoma cruzi-Mediated IFN-γ-Inducible Nitric Oxide Output in Macrophages Is Regulated by iNOS mRNA Stability. *J Immunol*. 2006;177 (9):6271-6280. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.9.6271.
- Su X, Yu Y, Zhong Y, et al. Interferon-[gamma] regulates cellular metabolism and mRNA translation to potentiate macrophage activation. *Nat Immunol*. 2015;16(8):838-849. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ni.3205.
- 88. Schoenborn JR, Wilson CB. Regulation of interferon-gamma during innate and adaptive immune responses. *Adv Immunol*. 2007;96:41-101. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(07)96002-2.
- 89. Hu X, Chakravarty SD, Ivashkiv LB. Regulation of interferon and Toll-like receptor signaling during macrophage activation by opposing feedforward and feedback inhibition mechanisms. *Immunol Rev.* 2008;226:41-56. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00707.x.
- 90. van der Pouw Kraan TCTM, van Gaalen FA, Kasperkovitz P V, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis is a heterogeneous disease: Evidence for differences in the activation of the STAT-1 pathway between rheumatoid tissues. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2003;48(8):2132-2145. doi:10.1002/art.11096.

- 91. Lacey DC, Achuthan A, Fleetwood AJ, et al. Defining GM-CSF– and Macrophage-CSF–Dependent Macrophage Responses by In Vitro Models. *J Immunol.* 2012;188(11):5752 LP - 5765. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103426.
- 92. Beyer M, Mallmann MR, Xue J, et al. High-Resolution Transcriptome of Human Macrophages. Zirlik A, ed. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(9):e45466. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0045466.
- 93. Martinez FO, Gordon S, Locati M, Mantovani A. Transcriptional Profiling of the Human Monocyte-to-Macrophage Differentiation and Polarization: New Molecules and Patterns of Gene Expression. *J Immunol*. 2006;177(10):7303 LP -7311. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.7303.
- 94. Bourette RP, Myles GM, Choi J, Rohrschneider LR. Sequential activation of phoshatidylinositol 3-kinase and phospholipase C-γ2 by the M-CSF receptor is necessary for differentiation signaling. *EMBO J*. 1997;16(19):5880 LP - 5893. http://emboj.embopress.org/content/16/19/5880.abstract.
- 95. Kelley TW, Graham MM, Doseff AI, et al. Macrophage colony-stimulating factor promotes cell survival through Akt/protein kinase B. *J Biol Chem*. 1999;274(37):26393-26398. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.37.26393.
- 96. Richardson ET, Shukla S, Nagy N, et al. ERK Signaling Is Essential for Macrophage Development. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(10):e0140064. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0140064.
- 97. Wang Y, Keogh RJ, Hunter MG, et al. SHIP2 is recruited to the cell membrane upon macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) stimulation and regulates M-CSF-induced signaling. *J Immunol*. 2004;173(11):6820-6830. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.11.6820.
- 98. Bartocci A, Mastrogiannis DS, Migliorati G, Stockert RJ, Wolkoff AW, Stanley ER. Macrophages specifically regulate the concentration of their own growth factor in the circulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1987;84(17):6179-6183. doi:10.1073/pnas.84.17.6179.
- 99. Hamilton JA. Colony-stimulating factors in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2008;8(7):533-544. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nri2356.
- 100. Rojo R, Raper A, Ozdemir DD, et al. Deletion of a Csf1r enhancer selectively impacts CSF1R expression and development of tissue macrophage populations. *Nat Commun.* 2019;10(1):3215. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11053-8.
- 101. Hume DA, Pavli P, Donahue RE, Fidler IJ. The effect of human recombinant macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF-1) on the murine mononuclear phagocyte system in vivo. *J Immunol*. 1988;141(10):3405 LP 3409. http://www.jimmunol.org/content/141/10/3405.abstract.
- 102. Ushach I, Zlotnik A. Biological role of granulocyte macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) and macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) on cells of the myeloid lineage. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2016;100(3):481-489. doi:10.1189/jlb.3RU0316-144R.
- 103. Hercus TR, Dhagat U, Kan WLT, et al. Signalling by the betac family of cytokines. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 2013;24(3):189-201. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.03.002.
- 104. Hercus TR, Thomas D, Guthridge MA, et al. The granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor receptor: linking its structure to cell signaling and its role in

disease. *Blood*. 2009;114(7):1289-1298. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-164004.

- 105. Lehtonen A, Matikainen S, Miettinen M, Julkunen I. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)-induced STAT5 activation and target-gene expression during human monocyte/macrophage differentiation. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2002;71(3):511-519.
- 106. Ebner K, Bandion A, Binder BR, de Martin R, Schmid JA. GMCSF activates NFkappaB via direct interaction of the GMCSF receptor with IkappaB kinase beta. *Blood*. 2003;102(1):192-199. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-12-3753.
- Krausgruber T, Blazek K, Smallie T, et al. IRF5 promotes inflammatory macrophage polarization and TH1-TH17 responses. *Nat Immunol.* 2011;12(3):231-238. doi:10.1038/ni.1990.
- 108. Zucali JR, Dinarello CA, Oblon DJ, Gross MA, Anderson L, Weiner RS. Interleukin 1 stimulates fibroblasts to produce granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating activity and prostaglandin E2. *J Clin Invest*. 1986;77(6):1857-1863. doi:10.1172/JCI112512.
- 109. Bagby Jr GC, Dinarello CA, Wallace P, Wagner C, Hefeneider S, McCall E. Interleukin 1 stimulates granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating activity release by vascular endothelial cells. *J Clin Invest*. 1986;78(5):1316-1323. doi:10.1172/JCI112717.
- 110. Lukens JR, Barr MJ, Chaplin DD, Chi H, Kanneganti T-D. Inflammasome-Derived IL-1β Regulates the Production of GM-CSF by CD4<sup>+</sup> T Cells and γδ T Cells. *J Immunol*. 2012;188(7):3107 LP - 3115. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103308.
- 111. El-Behi M, Ciric B, Dai H, et al. The encephalitogenicity of TH17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat Immunol.* 2011;12(6):568-575. doi:10.1038/ni.2031.
- 112. Torre D, Tambini R, Manfredi M, et al. Circulating levels of granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor in patients with the systemic inflammatory response syndrome. *J Infect*. 2003;47(4):296-299.
- 113. Shi Y, Liu CH, Roberts AI, et al. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and T-cell responses: what we do and don't know. *Cell Res.* 16(2):126-133. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.cr.7310017.
- 114. Dirksen U, Nishinakamura R, Groneck P, et al. Human pulmonary alveolar proteinosis associated with a defect in GM-CSF/IL-3/IL-5 receptor common beta chain expression. *J Clin Invest*. 1997;100(9):2211-2217. doi:10.1172/JCI119758.
- 115. Stanley E, Lieschke GJ, Grail D, et al. Granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor-deficient mice show no major perturbation of hematopoiesis but develop a characteristic pulmonary pathology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*. 1994;91 (12):5592-5596. http://www.pnas.org/content/91/12/5592.abstract.
- 116. Deepe GSJ, Gibbons R, Woodward E. Neutralization of endogenous granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor subverts the protective immune response to Histoplasma capsulatum. *J Immunol*. 1999;163(9):4985-4993.
- 117. Latifi SQ, O'Riordan MA, Levine AD. Interleukin-10 controls the onset of irreversible septic shock. *Infect Immun*. 2002;70(8):4441-4446. doi:10.1128/iai.70.8.4441-4446.2002.
- 118. Fleming BD, Chandrasekaran P, Dillon LAL, et al. The generation of macrophages

with anti-inflammatory activity in the absence of STAT6 signaling. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2015;98(3). doi:10.1189/jlb.2A1114-560R.

- 119. Pathria P, Louis TL, Varner JA. Targeting Tumor-Associated Macrophages in Cancer. *Trends Immunol*. 2019;40(4):310-327. doi:10.1016/j.it.2019.02.003.
- 120. De Henau O, Rausch M, Winkler D, et al. Overcoming resistance to checkpoint blockade therapy by targeting PI3Kγ in myeloid cells. *Nature*. 2016;539:443. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20554.
- 121. Leone RD, Emens LA. Targeting adenosine for cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother cancer. 2018;6(1):57. doi:10.1186/s40425-018-0360-8.
- 122. Zelenay S, van der Veen AG, Böttcher JP, et al. Cyclooxygenase-Dependent Tumor Growth through Evasion of Immunity. *Cell*. 2015;162(6):1257-1270. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.015.
- Horta MF, Andrade LO, Martins-Duarte ÉS, Castro-Gomes T. Cell invasion by intracellular parasites – the many roads to infection. *J Cell Sci.* 2020;133(4):jcs232488. doi:10.1242/jcs.232488.
- Muraille E, Leo O, Moser M. Th1/Th2 Paradigm Extended: Macrophage Polarization as an Unappreciated Pathogen-Driven Escape Mechanism? . Front Immunol . 2014;5 :603.

https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00603.

- 125. Assreuy J, Cunha FQ, Epperlein M, et al. Production of nitric oxide and superoxide by activated macrophages and killing of Leishmania major. *Eur J Immunol*. 1994;24(3):672-676. doi:10.1002/eji.1830240328.
- 126. Vouldoukis I, Riveros-Moreno V, Dugas B, et al. The killing of Leishmania major by human macrophages is mediated by nitric oxide induced after ligation of the Fc epsilon RII/CD23 surface antigen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1995;92(17):7804 LP -7808. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.17.7804.
- 127. Stenger S, Thüring H, Röllinghoff M, Bogdan C. Tissue expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase is closely associated with resistance to Leishmania major. *J Exp Med.* 1994;180(3):783-793. doi:10.1084/jem.180.3.783.
- 128. Liew FY, Millott S, Parkinson C, Palmer RM, Moncada S. Macrophage killing of Leishmania parasite in vivo is mediated by nitric oxide from L-arginine. J Immunol. 1990;144(12):4794 LP - 4797. http://www.jimmunol.org/content/144/12/4794.abstract.
- 129. Handman E, Burgess AW. Stimulation by Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor of Leishmania Tropica Killing by Macrophages. *J Immunol*. 1979;122(3):1134 LP - 1137. http://www.jimmunol.org/content/122/3/1134.abstract.
- 130. Dumas C, Muyombwe A, Roy G, et al. Recombinant Leishmania major Secreting Biologically Active Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor Survives Poorly in Macrophages In Vitro and Delays Disease Development in Mice. *Infect Immun*. 2003;71(11):6499 LP - 6509. doi:10.1128/IAI.71.11.6499-6509.2003.
- 131. Coleman DL, Chodakewitz JA, Bartiss AH, Mellors JW. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor enhances selective effector functions of tissue-derived macrophages. *Blood.* 1988;72(2):573-578.
- 132. Fischer HG, Bielinsky AK, Nitzgen B, Däubener W, Hadding U. Functional

dichotomy of mouse microglia developed in vitro: Differential effects of macrophage and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor on cytokine secretion and antitoxoplasmic activity. *J Neuroimmunol*. 1993;45(1):193-201. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-5728(93)90180-7.

- 133. Tadokoro CE, de Almeida Abrahamsohn I. Bone marrow-derived macrophages grown in GM-CSF or M-CSF differ in their ability to produce IL-12 and to induce IFN-γ production after stimulation with Trypanosoma cruzi antigens. *Immunol Lett.* 2001;77(1):31-38. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-2478(01)00197-3.
- 134. Reed SG, Nathan CF, Pihl DL, et al. Recombinant granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor activates macrophages to inhibit Trypanosoma cruzi and release hydrogen peroxide. Comparison with interferon gamma. *J Exp Med*. 1987;166(6):1734-1746. doi:10.1084/jem.166.6.1734.
- 135. AKAGAWA KS, KOMURO I, KANAZAWA H, YAMAZAKI T, MOCHIDA K, KISHI F. Functional heterogeneity of colony-stimulating factor-induced human monocyte-derived macrophages. *Respirology*. 2006;11(s1):S32-S36. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1843.2006.00805.x.
- 136. Higgins DM, Sanchez-Campillo J, Rosas-Taraco AG, et al. Relative Levels of M-CSF and GM-CSF Influence the Specific Generation of Macrophage Populations during Infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis J Immunol. 2008;180(7):4892 LP - 4900. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.4892.
- 137. Laskin DL, Sunil VR, Gardner CR, Laskin JD. Macrophages and tissue injury: agents of defense or destruction? *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*. 2011;51:267-288. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.010909.105812.
- 138. Leibovich SJ, Ross R. The role of the macrophage in wound repair. A study with hydrocortisone and antimacrophage serum. *Am J Pathol.* 1975;78(1):71-100.
- 139. Wu L, Yu YL, Galiano RD, Roth SI, Mustoe TA. Macrophage colony-stimulating factor accelerates wound healing and upregulates TGF-beta1 mRNA levels through tissue macrophages. *J Surg Res.* 1997;72(2):162-169. doi:10.1006/jsre.1997.5178.
- 140. Lemos DR, Babaeijandaghi F, Low M, et al. Nilotinib reduces muscle fibrosis in chronic muscle injury by promoting TNF-mediated apoptosis of fibro/adipogenic progenitors. *Nat Med.* 2015;21(7):786-794. doi:10.1038/nm.3869.
- 141. Perdiguero E, Sousa-Victor P, Ruiz-Bonilla V, et al. p38/MKP-1–regulated AKT coordinates macrophage transitions and resolution of inflammation during tissue repair. *J Cell Biol*. 2011;195(2):307-322. doi:10.1083/jcb.201104053.
- 142. Arnold L, Henry A, Poron F, et al. Inflammatory monocytes recruited after skeletal muscle injury switch into antiinflammatory macrophages to support myogenesis . *J Exp Med*. 2007;204(5):1057-1069. doi:10.1084/jem.20070075.
- 143. Bosurgi L, Corna G, Vezzoli M, et al. Transplanted Mesoangioblasts Require Macrophage IL-10 for Survival in a Mouse Model of Muscle Injury. *J Immunol*. 2012;188(12):6267 LP - 6277. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102680.
- 144. Zordan P, Rigamonti E, Freudenberg K, et al. Macrophages commit postnatal endothelium-derived progenitors to angiogenesis and restrict endothelial to mesenchymal transition during muscle regeneration. *Cell Death Dis.* 2014;5(1):e1031-e1031. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.558.
- 145. Weischenfeldt J, Porse B. Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophages (BMM): Isolation

and Applications. *Cold Spring Harb Protoc*. 2008;2008 (12):pdb.prot5080. http://cshprotocols.cshlp.org/content/2008/12/pdb.prot5080.abstract.

- 146. Yang D, Zhang Y, Nguyen HG, et al. The A(2B) adenosine receptor protects against inflammation and excessive vascular adhesion . J Clin Invest. 2006;116(7):1913-1923. doi:10.1172/JCI27933.
- 147. Bray NL, Pimentel H, Melsted P, Pachter L. Near-optimal probabilistic RNA-seq quantification. *Nat Biotechnol.* 2016;34(5):525-527. doi:10.1038/nbt.3519.
- 148. Haskó G, Szabó C, Németh ZH, Kvetan V, Pastores SM, Vizi ES. Adenosine receptor agonists differentially regulate IL-10, TNF-alpha, and nitric oxide production in RAW 264.7 macrophages and in endotoxemic mice. *J Immunol*. 1996;157 (10):4634-4640.

http://www.jimmunol.org/content/157/10/4634.abstract.

- 149. Hasko G, Pacher P. Regulation of macrophage function by adenosine. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2012;32(4):865-869. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.226852.
- 150. Bours MJL, Swennen ELR, Di Virgilio F, Cronstein BN, Dagnelie PC. Adenosine 5'-triphosphate and adenosine as endogenous signaling molecules in immunity and inflammation. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2006;112(2):358-404. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2005.04.013.
- 151. Qiao Y, Giannopoulou EG, Chan CH, et al. Synergistic Activation of Inflammatory Cytokine Genes by Interferon-γ-induced Chromatin Remodeling and Toll-like Receptor Signaling. *Immunity*. 2013;39(3):10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.009. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.009.
- 152. Ramana C V, Gil MP, Schreiber RD, Stark GR. Stat1-dependent and -independent pathways in IFN-γ-dependent signaling. *Trends Immunol*. 2002;23(2):96-101. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02118-4.
- 153. Sieweke MH, Allen JE. Beyond Stem Cells: Self-Renewal of Differentiated Macrophages. *Science (80-).* 2013;342(6161):1242974. doi:10.1126/science.1242974.
- 154. Kriegbaum MC, Jacobsen B, Füchtbauer A, et al. C4.4A gene ablation is compatible with normal epidermal development and causes modest overt phenotypes. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6:25833. doi:10.1038/srep25833.
- 155. Arumugam T, Deng D, Bover L, Wang H, Logsdon CD, Ramachandran V. New Blocking Antibodies against Novel AGR2-C4.4A Pathway Reduce Growth and Metastasis of Pancreatic Tumors and Increase Survival in Mice. *Mol Cancer Ther*. 2015;14(4):941-951. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0470.
- Paret C, Bourouba M, Beer A, et al. Ly6 family member C4.4A binds laminins 1 and 5, associates with galectin-3 and supports cell migration. *Int J cancer*. 2005;115(5):724-733. doi:10.1002/ijc.20977.
- 157. Jacobsen B, Muley T, Meister M, et al. Ly6/uPAR-related protein C4.4A as a marker of solid growth pattern and poor prognosis in lung adenocarcinoma. *J Thorac Oncol.* 2013;8(2):152-160. doi:10.1097/JTO.0b013e318279d503.
- 158. Cheng D-Q, Gu X-D, Li Z-Y, Xiang J-B, Chen Z-Y. Expression of C4.4A is a potential independent prognostic factor for patients with gastric cancer. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2014;15(9):3895-3899. doi:10.7314/apjcp.2014.15.9.3895.
- 159. Israeli S, Khamaysi Z, Fuchs-Telem D, et al. A mutation in LIPN, encoding epidermal lipase N, causes a late-onset form of autosomal-recessive congenital

ichthyosis. Am J Hum Genet. 2011;88(4):482-487. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.02.011.

- 160. Minutti CM, Modak R V, Macdonald F, et al. A Macrophage-Pericyte Axis Directs Tissue Restoration via Amphiregulin-Induced Transforming Growth Factor Beta Activation. *Immunity*. 2019;50(3):645-654.e6. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2019.01.008.
- 161. Zhang H, Wang P, Zhang X, Zhao W, Ren H, Hu Z. SDF1/CXCR7 Signaling Axis Participates in Angiogenesis in Degenerated Discs via the PI3K/AKT Pathway. DNA Cell Biol. 2019;38(5):457-467. doi:10.1089/dna.2018.4531.
- 162. Zhang M, Qiu L, Zhang Y, Xu D, Zheng JC, Jiang L. CXCL12 enhances angiogenesis through CXCR7 activation in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):8289. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-08840-y.
- Hu H, Xu D-H, Huang X-X, et al. Keratin17 Promotes Tumor Growth and is Associated with Poor Prognosis in Gastric Cancer. J Cancer. 2018;9(2):346-357. doi:10.7150/jca.19838.
- 164. Yang L, Zhang S, Wang G. Keratin 17 in disease pathogenesis: from cancer to dermatoses. *J Pathol*. 2019;247(2):158-165. doi:10.1002/path.5178.
- 165. Depianto D, Kerns ML, Dlugosz AA, Coulombe PA. Keratin 17 promotes epithelial proliferation and tumor growth by polarizing the immune response in skin. *Nat Genet*. 2010;42(10):910-914. doi:10.1038/ng.665.
- 166. Rotty JD, Coulombe PA. A wound-induced keratin inhibits Src activity during keratinocyte migration and tissue repair. *J Cell Biol*. 2012;197(3):381-389. doi:10.1083/jcb.201107078.
- 167. Beider K, Bitner H, Leiba M, et al. Multiple myeloma cells recruit tumorsupportive macrophages through the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis and promote their polarization toward the M2 phenotype. *Oncotarget*. 2014;5(22):11283-11296. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2207.
- 168. DiPietro LA, Nissen NN, Gamelli RL, Koch AE, Pyle JM, Polverini PJ. Thrombospondin 1 synthesis and function in wound repair. *Am J Pathol.* 1996;148(6):1851-1860. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8669471.
- Lawler J, Sunday M, Thibert V, et al. Thrombospondin-1 is required for normal murine pulmonary homeostasis and its absence causes pneumonia. *J Clin Invest.* 1998;101(5):982-992. doi:10.1172/JCI1684.
- 170. Murphy-Ullrich JE, Poczatek M. Activation of latent TGF-β by thrombospondin-1: mechanisms and physiology. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 2000;11(1):59-69. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-6101(99)00029-5.
- 171. Ang Z, Er JZ, Tan NS, et al. Human and mouse monocytes display distinct signalling and cytokine profiles upon stimulation with FFAR2/FFAR3 short-chain fatty acid receptor agonists. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6(1):34145. doi:10.1038/srep34145.
- Zhang H, Sweezey NB, Kaplan F. LGL1 modulates proliferation, apoptosis, and migration of human fetal lung fibroblasts. *Am J Physiol Cell Mol Physiol*. 2014;308(4):L391-L402. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00119.2014.
- 173. Hsieh CS, Macatonia SE, Tripp CS, Wolf SF, O'Garra A, Murphy KM. Development of TH1 CD4+ T cells through IL-12 produced by Listeria-induced macrophages. *Science (80-)*. 1993;260(5107):547 LP - 549. doi:10.1126/science.8097338.
- 174. Gornalusse G, Mummidi S, He W, Silvestri G, Bamshad M, Ahuja SK. CCL3L

Copy number variation and the co-evolution of primate and viral genomes. *PLoS Genet*. 2009;5(1).

- 175. Taub DD, Proost P, Murphy WJ, et al. Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1),
 -2, and -3 are chemotactic for human T lymphocytes. *J Clin Invest*.
 1995;95(3):1370-1376. doi:10.1172/JCI117788.
- 176. Shimizu Y, Dobashi K. CC-chemokine CCL15 expression and possible implications for the pathogenesis of IgE-related severe asthma. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2012;2012:475253. doi:10.1155/2012/475253.
- 177. Turner MD, Nedjai B, Hurst T, Pennington DJ. Cytokines and chemokines: At the crossroads of cell signalling and inflammatory disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res*. 2014;1843(11):2563-2582. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.05.014.
- 178. Hamilton JA. GM-CSF-Dependent Inflammatory Pathways. *Front Immunol*. 2019;10:2055. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.02055.
- 179. Sedger LM, McDermott MF. TNF and TNF-receptors: From mediators of cell death and inflammation to therapeutic giants – past, present and future. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 2014;25(4):453-472. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2014.07.016.
- Di Virgilio F, Dal Ben D, Sarti AC, Giuliani AL, Falzoni S. The P2X7 Receptor in Infection and Inflammation. *Immunity*. 2017;47(1):15-31. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.020.
- 181. Hart R, Greaves DR. Chemerin Contributes to Inflammation by Promoting Macrophage Adhesion to VCAM-1 and Fibronectin through Clustering of VLA-4 and VLA-5. *J Immunol*. 2010;185(6):3728 LP - 3739. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902154.
- 182. Bosmann M, Ward PA. Modulation of inflammation by interleukin-27. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2013;94(6):1159-1165. doi:10.1189/jlb.0213107.
- 183. Dinarello CA. Overview of the IL-1 family in innate inflammation and acquired immunity. *Immunol Rev.* 2018;281(1):8-27. doi:10.1111/imr.12621.
- 184. Ohradanova-Repic A, Machacek C, Charvet C, et al. Extracellular Purine Metabolism Is the Switchboard of Immunosuppressive Macrophages and a Novel Target to Treat Diseases With Macrophage Imbalances. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9:852. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.00852.
- 185. Klinger M, Freissmuth M, Nanoff C. Adenosine receptors: G protein-mediated signalling and the role of accessory proteins. *Cell Signal*. 2002;14(2):99-108. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0898-6568(01)00235-2.
- 186. Park SH, Park-Min K-H, Chen J, Hu X, Ivashkiv LB. Tumor necrosis factor induces GSK3 kinase-mediated cross-tolerance to endotoxin in macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* 2011;12(7):607-615. doi:10.1038/ni.2043.
- 188. Seatter SC, Bennet T, Li MH, Bubrick MP, West MA. Macrophage Endotoxin Tolerance: Tumor Necrosis Factor and Interleukin-1 Regulation by Lipopolysaccharide Pretreatment. *Arch Surg.* 1994;129(12):1263-1270. doi:10.1001/archsurg.1994.01420360053006.

- 189. Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A. Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *J Exp Med.* 1994;179(4):1109-1118. doi:10.1084/jem.179.4.1109.
- 190. Ohradanova-Repic A, Machacek C, Fischer MB, Stockinger H. Differentiation of human monocytes and derived subsets of macrophages and dendritic cells by the HLDA10 monoclonal antibody panel. *Clin Transl Immunol.* 2016;5(1):e55. doi:10.1038/cti.2015.39.
- 191. Way KJ, Dinh H, Keene MR, et al. The generation and properties of human macrophage populations from hemopoietic stem cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2009;85(5):766-778. doi:10.1189/jlb.1108689.
- 192. Na YR, Jung D, Yoon BR, Lee WW, Seok SH. Endogenous prostaglandin E2 potentiates anti-inflammatory phenotype of macrophage through the CREB-C/EBP-β cascade. *Eur J Immunol*. 2015;45(9):2661-2671. doi:10.1002/eji.201545471.
- 193. Kreckler LM, Wan TC, Ge Z-D, Auchampach JA. Adenosine inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha release from mouse peritoneal macrophages via A2A and A2B but not the A3 adenosine receptor. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 2006;317(1):172-180. doi:10.1124/jpet.105.096016.
- 194. Arnaoutova I, Kleinman HK. In vitro angiogenesis: endothelial cell tube formation on gelled basement membrane extract. *Nat Protoc*. 2010;5(4):628-635. doi:10.1038/nprot.2010.6.
- 195. Bao P, Kodra A, Tomic-Canic M, Golinko MS, Ehrlich HP, Brem H. The role of vascular endothelial growth factor in wound healing. *J Surg Res.* 2009;153(2):347-358. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2008.04.023.
- 196. Xu W, Zhao X, Daha MR, van Kooten C. Reversible differentiation of pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophages. *Mol Immunol*. 2013;53(3):179-186. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2012.07.005.
- 197. Carrieri PB, Provitera V, Rosa T De, Tartaglia G, Gorga F, Perrella O. Profile of Cerebrospinal Fluid and Serum Cytokines in Patients with Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis. A Correlation with Clinical Activity. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol*. 1998;20(3):373-382. doi:10.3109/08923979809034820.
- 198. Cornish AL, Campbell IK, McKenzie BS, Chatfield S, Wicks IP. G-CSF and GM-CSF as therapeutic targets in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol*. 2009;5(10):554-559. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2009.178.
- 199. Wicks IP, Roberts AW. Targeting GM-CSF in inflammatory diseases. *Nat Rev Rheumatol*. 2016;12(1):37-48. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2015.161.
- Blay J, White TD, Hoskin DW. The extracellular fluid of solid carcinomas contains immunosuppressive concentrations of adenosine. *Cancer Res.* 1997;57(13):2602-2605.
- 201. Ohta A. A Metabolic Immune Checkpoint: Adenosine in Tumor Microenvironment . *Front Immunol* . 2016;7 :109. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00109.
- Wang M-T, Honn K V, Nie D. Cyclooxygenases, prostanoids, and tumor progression. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 2007;26(3-4):525-534. doi:10.1007/s10555-007-9096-5.

- 203. Sriram K, Insel PA. G Protein-Coupled Receptors as Targets for Approved Drugs: How Many Targets and How Many Drugs? *Mol Pharmacol*. 2018;93(4):251-258. doi:10.1124/mol.117.111062.
- 204. Kaufman HL, Ruby CE, Hughes T, Slingluff CL. Current status of granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor in the immunotherapy of melanoma. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2014;2(1):11. doi:10.1186/2051-1426-2-11.
- 205. Dranoff G. GM-CSF-based cancer vaccines. *Immunol Rev.* 2002;188:147-154. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065x.2002.18813.x.
- 206. Santos JB, de Jesus AR, Machado PR, et al. Antimony plus Recombinant Human Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor Applied Topically in Low Doses Enhances Healing of Cutaneous Leishmaniasis Ulcers: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. *J Infect Dis*. 2004;190(10):1793-1796. doi:10.1086/424848.